

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

NOTICE

395 Wellington Stræt Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your Net - Votre reference

Our file - Notice reference

AVIS

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments. La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

Canadä

The Effect of Inflammatory Mediators and Salbutan of on Calcium Mobilization, Cyciic AMP and Isometric Tension in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle.

BY

Andrew James Hirsh



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

IN

EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE

EDMONTON, ALBERTA Spring 1993



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N1 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your life - Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author las granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan. distribute sell copies or of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse disposition à la des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-82048-9



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR: Andrew James Hirsh

TITLE OF THESIS: The Effect of Inflammatory Mediators and Salbutamol on Calcium Mobilization, Cyclic AMP and Isometric Tension in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle

DEGREE: Master of Science in Experimental Medicine

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: Nineteen hundred and ninty-three

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Luchand Heich

11150, 72nd Avenue, Edmonton, Alberta CANADA, T6G 0B2

January 29th, 1993

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled *The Effect of Inflammatory Mediators and Salbutamol on Calcium Mobilization, Cyclic AMP and Isometric Tension in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle* submitted by **Andrew James Hirsh** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Experimental Medicine.

Will zan

S. F. P. Man M.D. - Supervisor Dept. of Medicine

والمراجع والمراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع

R. L. Jones Ph.D. - Co-supervisor Dept. of Medicine

Churton J. Kingt

C. B. Benishin Ph.D. - Dept. of Physiology

P. K. T. Pang Ph.D. - Dept. of Physiology

January 28th, 1993

To my wife Katherine, your love and motivation is an everlasting inspiration.

Abstract

Leukotriene D₄ (LTD₄), prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2\alpha}), platelet-activating factor (PAF) and histamine are inflammatory mediators that have been implicated in the pathogenesis of asthma. Acute airway narrowing is one of the pathophysiological features of asthma and β_2 -agonist therapy is a pharmacological modality commonly used to reverse bronchospasm. The effect these inflammatory mediators have on airway smooth muscle contraction and the mechanism of β -agonist relaxation in airway smooth muscle have not been clearly defined; however, the second messengers, adenosine 3', 5', cyclic monophosphate (cyclic AMP) and intracellular calcium concentrations ([Ca++]_i), have been closely associated with isometric tension.

In the first chapter of this thesis, smooth muscle morphology, the role of second messengers ($[Ca^{++}]_i$ and cyclic AMP) in the contraction/ relaxation mechanism of airway smooth muscle, pharmacology of inflammatory mediators and salbutamol (a β_2 -agonist), and techniques for simultaneous measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$, and isometric tension are reviewed.

In the second chapter, LTD_4 , $PGF_{2\alpha}$, PAF and histamine were examined for their ability to generate a reproducible isometric tension-time curve in bovine trachealis muscle. LTD_4 , $PGF_{2\alpha}$, PAF and histamine all cause isometric contraction, but the tension-time curves for LTD_4 , $PGF_{2\alpha}$, and PAF were not reproducible. $PGF_{2\alpha}$, showed a sustained tension but was not dose-dependant. LTD_4 and PAF both caused a transient increase in tension and were not reproducible. Histamine showed a dose-dependant relationship and the response was reproducible. In the third chapter, the fluorescent indicator, fluo-3, was used to measure $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in bovine trachealis muscle during histamine-induced isometric contraction. Fluo-3 has no significant modifying effect of its own on the isometric contraction caused by histamine, and is a good indicator of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ changes during histamine-induced contraction. Finally, histamine caused a sustained increase in both $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension.

In the fourth chapter, the effects of salbutamol on simultaneous measurements of either 1) cyclic AMP, 2) $[Ca^{++}]_i$ or 3) extracellular calcium concentration $([Ca^{++}]_{ext})$, and isometric tension in bovine tracheal smooth muscle were shown. Salbutamol caused a decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension and increased both cyclic AMP and $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ during a histamine-induced contraction.

Acknowledgement

This thesis would not have been possible without the help from Dr. Peter Pang, for the use of his CAF-100 Flourimeter; Dr. Don Enarson and Dr. Dale Lein for the use of their computers; Dr. Tom Ryan, Anh Nguyen and Bill Boyd for their technical assistance and the friendly group at Gainers Inc. (especially the men on the kill floor) (Edmonton, AB. CANADA) for suppling the bovine trachea.

In addition, I am particularly grateful for the help, understanding and patients from my supervisor Dr. Paul Man and Co-supervisor Dr. Dick Jones and my committee members Dr. Christina Benishin and Dr. Peter Pang.

Table of Contents

Chapter I.	Introduction	1
	Airway Smooth Muscle Morphology	3
	Role of Airway Smooth Muscle on Airway Calibre	4
	Species Differences in Trachealis Muscle Mechanics	5
	Calcium and the Contractile Mechanism of Airway Smoot	h
	Muscle	6
	Mechanisms to Increase [Ca++]i	7
	Voltage Operated Channels	8
	Receptor Operated Channels	8
	Leak Channels	9
	[Ca++]; Release from Myoplasmic Stores	9
	Myoplasmic Stores and IP3	10
	Mechanisms to Decrease [Ca++]i	11
	[Ca++]i and PKC	12
	Mechanism of Muscle Contraction	12
	Maintenance of Isometric Tension	13
	Latch Bridge	14
	РКС	15
	Caldesmon and Calponin	15
	[Ca++]i Measurement in Airway Smooth Muscle Tissue	15
	Calcium Microelectrodes	16
	Aequorin Chemiluminescence	16
	Fluorescent Indicators	17

Fluo-3 as a Calcium Indicator	18
Inflammatory Mediators	20
β Agonist as a Muscle Relaxant	25
Salbutamol	25
Cyclic Nucleotides and Airway Smooth Muscle	27
Multidimensional Role of Cyclic AMP on Smooth	
Muscle Contraction	29
Cyclic AMP Synthesis	30
Cyclic AMP Degradation	31
Cyclic AMP and Smooth Muscle Relaxation	32
References	36

Chapter II. Effects of Leukotriene D ₄ , Prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$, or Platelet-Activatin	g
Factor on Isometric Tension in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle	56

Introduction		57
	Synthesis of Inflammatory mediators	57
	Contractile Responses Induced by LTD4, $PGF_{2\alpha}$, P	AF
	and Histamine	58
Materials and	Methods	61
	Smooth Muscle Isolation	61
	Isometric Tension Measurements	62
	Statistical Analysis	65
Results		66
	Effect of LTD4 on Isometric Tension	66
	Effect of PAF on Isometric Tension	70
	Effect of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ on Isometric Tension	73

	Effect of Histamine on Isometric Tension	77
	Effect of Repeated Exposures to Histamine	77
	Effect of Low Calcium on Histamine-induced	
	Isometric Contraction	77
Discussion		82
References		86

Chapter III. Fluo-3 as an Indicator for Simultaneous Measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$	
and Isometric Tension in Histamine Stimulated Bovine Tracheal Smooth	
Muscle	90

Introduction		91
	Fluo-3 as an [Ca++]i Indicator	91
	Histamine as a Contractile Agonist	92
Materials and	d Methods	94
	Smooth Muscle Isolation	94
	Simultaneous Measurement of [Ca++]i and Isome	tric
	Tension	94
	Statistical Analysis	97
Results		98
	Fluo-3 Properties	98
	Fluo-3 Effect on Histamine-Induced Isometric	
	Tension	98
	[Ca++]i Changes Caused by Histamine	101
	[Ca++] _i and Isometric Tension in Histamine Induc	ed
	Contraction	101
	Calibration of Fluo-3 Fluorescence	105

	η	 	107
Reference	es	 	110

Chapter IV. Effects of Salbutamol, Histamine and Acetylcholine on Calcium	
Mobilization, Cyclic AMP and Isometric Tension in Bovine Tracheal Smooth	
Muscle	114

Introduction		115
	Cyclic AMP and Airway Smooth Muscle Relaxati	on
		115
	Calcium and Airway Smooth Muscle Relaxation -	116
Materials and	Methods	118
	Smooth Muscle Isolation	118
	Simultaneous [Ca++]; and Isometric Tension	
	Measurement	119
	Cyclic AMP and Isometric Tension Measurement	119
	Simultaneous [Ca++]ext and Isometric Tension	
	Measurement	121
	Statistical Analysis	122
Results		123
	Effect of Salbutamol on [Ca++]i and Isometric Ten	sion
	During Contraction (caused by histamine or ACh)	or
	at Lo	123
	Effects of IBMX, Histamine, Salbutamol on Cyclic	
	AMP Concentration	127

	Effects of Histamine and Salbutamol on [Ca ⁺⁺]ext	and
	Isometric Tension	129
	Discussion	131
	References	134
Chapter V.	Conclusion	140
	References	148

List of Tables

 Table #4.1
 Effects of Salbutamol on [Ca⁺⁺]; and Isometric Tension
 124

List of Figures

Chapter I	Figure #1.1 Trachea morphology	3
	Figure #1.2 Calcium pathways in airway smooth muscle cell	11
	Figure #1.3 Calcium calmodulin activation	13
	Figure #1.4 Molecular structure of fluo-3 salt	19
	Figure #1.5 Molecular structure of histamine	21
	Figure #1.6 Simplified arachadonic acid metabolism	24
	Figure #1.7 Molecular structure of salbutamol	26
	Figure #1.8 Proposed mechanisms for smooth muscle relaxation	35
Chapter II	Figure #2.1 Cross section of bovine trachealis muscle at Lo	62
	Figure #2.2 Tissue, and bath assembly	63
	Figure #2.3 Effects of LTD ₄ on isometric tension over time	67
	Figure #2.4 Peak tension responses to LTD ₄	68
	Figure #2.5 Effects of LTD ₄ and ACh on isometric tension over	
	time	69
	Figure #2.6 Effects of PAF on isometric tension over time	71
	Figure #2.7 Effects of PAF (50 μ M) and histamine on peak	
	tension	72
	Figure #2.8 Effects of PGF _{2α} on isometric tension over time	74
	Figure #2.9 Dose-response of $PGF_{2\alpha}$	75
	Figure #2.10 Effects of PGF _{2α} (50 μ M) and histamine on peak	
	tension	76
	Figure #2.11 Effects of Histamine on isometric tension over time	78
	Figure #2.12 Dose-response of Histamine	79

	Figure #2.13 Effect of repeated doses of Histamine on peak tension
	Figure #2.14 Effects of low extracellular calcium on isometric
	tension caused by histamine
Chapter III	Figure #3.1 CAF-100 calcium ion analyzer and tension transducer
	set-up
	Figure #3.2 Effects of fluo-3 AM - pluronic f-127 on peak
	isometric tension caused by histamine
	Figure #3.3 Initial Effects of fluo-3 AM - pluronic f-127 on
	isometric tension-time curve caused by histamine - 100
	Figure #3.4 Effects of histamine on [Ca ⁺⁺] _i 102
	Figure #3.5 Simultaneous [Ca++]; and isometric tension 103
	Figure #3.6 Simultaneous [Ca ⁺⁺] _i and isometric tension initial
	response 104
	Figure #3.7 Calibration curve for fluo-3 106
Chapter IV	Figure #4.1 Time points for cyclic AMP measurement 120
	Figure #4.2 Effects of histamine and salbutamol on [Ca ⁺⁺], and
	isometric tension 125
	Figure #4.3 Effects of salbutamol on [Ca++] _i and isometric
	tension at L ₀ 126
	Figure #4.4 Effects of IBMX, salbutamol, histamine and histamine
	with salbutamol on cyclic AMP concentration 128
	Figure #4.5 Effects of H ₂ O, histamine and salbutamol on fluorescent
	intensity and isometric tension 130

1

Chapter I

Introduction

Introduction

Statistical evidence has determined that there is a significant increase in the worldwide asthma mortality rate (Markowe *et al.*, 1987; Jackson *et al.*, 1988). This suggests that our current pharmacological therapy for asthma may be inadequate, and improved therapy necessitates a better understanding of the pathogenesis of this condition.

The three major manifestations of asthma are bronchospasm, inflammation, and increased mucus secretion. This literature review focusses on the first two manifestations by concentrating on the second-messengers {intracellular calcium and adenosine 3', 5', cyclic monophosphate (cyclic AMP)} and how their intracellular concentrations may control the airway smooth muscle contractile process.

Airway smooth muscle is found throughout the tracheobronchial tree. The percentage of the airway wall composed of smooth muscle increases from the large airways (trachea) to the small airways (terminal bronchioles) (Russell, 1978), but the mechanical characteristics between tracheal smooth muscle and bronchial smooth muscle (to the 5th generation bronchi) were found to be similar (Stephens *et al.*, 1969). Because the mechanical characteristics of both tracheal and bronchial smooth muscle are similar, and that tracheal smooth muscle is present in greater quantity and more easily isolated, trachealis smooth muscle was chosen as the tissue for my study.

1. Airway Smooth Muscle Morphology

The orientation of the trachealis muscle in relation to other tissue types, within the trachea is depicted in figure 1.1. The posterior aspect of the trachea has a thick band of smooth muscle (muscularis trachea) which is attached via elastic tendons to the perichondrium of the cartilaginous rings of the trachea. The smooth muscle is joined to the mucosa by loose connective tissue and inserted among dense elastin and collagenous fibre bundles. The blood supply comes from the inferior thyroid artery. The nerves acting on the muscle arise from the recurrent branch of the vagus and the sympathetic chain (Bloom and Fawcett, 1987). A delicate network of lymphatics is present in the thick basal lamina covered, in the luminal side, by ciliated pseudostratified columnar epithelium.



Figure #1.1 Trachea morphology (modified from Sorokin, 1983)

At the cellular level, airway smooth muscle cells are long and narrow, ranging from 750 -1,000 μ M long x 5 μ M thick (Stephens, 1987 A; Suzuki *et al.*, 1986) and are arranged parallel to each other. They have a limited nerve supply (1 nerve filament for every 10 muscle cells) (Stephens, 1987 A) and are separated by an interfascicular space containing collagen and elastin fibres. A smooth muscle bundle is composed of approximately 5% fibroblasts (Stephens, 1987 A) and within the bundle the cells have relatively few gap junctions. According to Burnstock, (1970) these features classify the airway smooth muscle as neither a multiunit nor a single unit type; instead airway smooth muscle can be classified as an intermediate type (Stephens, 1987 B).

Airway smooth muscle cells contain the two main contractile proteins, actin and myosin, which are similar to those of the skeletal muscle. However, airway smooth muscle contains only 1/5 the myosin content of skeletal muscle and the myosin filaments are 20% longer. Although there are no visible striations, tracheal smooth muscle does show some form of sarcomere organization (Stephens, 1987 B). To give the cell structural integrity, the contractile protein actin has been shown (histologically) to run through dense bodies found in the myoplasm and the actin filaments are also attached to dense bands which are part of the sarcolemma (Stephens, 1987 B).

2. Role of Airway Smooth Muscle on Airway Calibre

Because airway smooth muscle, like skeletal muscle, has the ability to contract against a force, and is found surrounding the tracheobronchial tree, a reduction in length of the muscle (reducing the radius of the lumen) has a significant deleterious effect on airflow to and from the gas-exchange units of the lungs. The resistance to flow through a non-collapsible tube equals:

[(8) x (length of the tube)(viscosity of air)] / [(π) x (radius⁴)] (Forster II *et al.*, 1986). During an asthma attack, bronchospasm of the upper and lower airways causes decreased inspiratory and expiratory flow rates (Pride, 1983). Although expiration is ordinarily passive, an increased airway resistance requires the expiratory muscles to perform active work. This increase in active work by the respiratory muscles can create an oxygen debt, lactic acid build-up, fatigue and eventual failure of these muscles.

Conventionally, airway smooth muscle contraction has been measured two ways: isometric or isotonic. In an isometric contraction, the muscle is pulling on an immovable attachment and therefore, the muscle does not undergo any external shortening, and is a measure of tension developed by the muscle. In an isotonic contraction the muscle is attached to a movable lever and therefore, the muscle can shorten, but the tension in the muscle remains constant. Physiologically, both isotonic and isometric contractions occur *in vivo*; however, due to the effect of muscle length changes on intracellular calcium concentration $([Ca++]_i)$ (Gunst, 1989) I have decided, for technical reasons, to examine only the isometric component using bovine tracheal smooth muscle. This will be discussed in the subsequent section.

3. Species Differences in Trachealis Muscle Mechanics

Results from in vitro airway smooth muscle contraction/relaxation

experiments have been obtained using various animals: cow (Kirkpatrick, 1975), dog (Stephens *et al.*, 1969), and human (Marthan *et al.*, 1987). The structural properties of airway smooth muscle from these three different species were analyzed and all three tissue types were found to be similar (Stephens, 1987 A). Accordingly, though my primary objective was to understand smooth muscle contractile processes in humans, studies on bovine smooth muscle should still provide pertinent and important information.

4. Calcium and the Contractile Mechanism of Airway Smooth Muscle

Airway smooth muscle tone, unlike that of striated muscle which is largely controlled by nerve recruitment, is modulated by multiple neurotransmitters and mediators (Coburn and Baron, 1990). These neurotransmitters and mediators, once bound to a receptor, can produce a measurable physiological response by activating one or more second messengers within the cytosol.

The role of calcium in the excitation-contraction coupling mechanism of airway smooth muscle was initially based on striated muscle studies (Squire, 1981). However, there are primary biochemical differences between the two types of muscle such as: 1) smooth muscle does not contain Tropinin (a protein used for binding calcium in striated muscle), and 2) smooth muscle ATP hydrolysis can only occur when the 20-kDa light chains of myosin are phosphorylated (Gerthoffer, 1991; De Lanerolle, 1989 A). In striated muscle, the ATP hydrolysis occurs when actin and the myosin interact, but myosin does not need to be phosphorylated.

To achieve smooth muscle contraction, either by pharmacomechanical coupling (pharmacological agent binding to rcceptors on plasmalemma) or by electromechanical coupling (depolarization in cells membrane), it is essential that the [Ca⁺⁺]_i increases (Taylor and Stull, 1988; Lofdahl and Barnes, 1986; Panettieri *et al.*, 1989). This change in [Ca⁺⁺]_i has been estimated to be from a baseline $(0.05\mu M - 0.35\mu M$ to $0.35\mu M - 1\mu M$ during cellular contraction (Kotlikoff *et al.*, 1987; Taylor and Stull, 1988; Taylor *et al.*, 1989). Gunst, (1989) found that when muscle length changes, either by passive stretching or by pharmacological stimulation, there is a concomitant change in $\frac{1}{2}(a^{++})_i$ (measured using aequorin chemiluminescence). This implies that to study the pharmacological effects on changes in [Ca⁺⁺]_i, the length of the tissue must be kept constant. It should be noted that, because aequorin chemiluminescence is not a calculated ratio of bound and unbound protein the change in [Ca⁺⁺]_i could be caused by a change in dye concentration via morphological changes in the cellular conformation.

4.1 Mechanisms to Increase $[Ca++]_i$

There are two pathways to increase the [C.) by activating channels found within the plasmalemma membrane allowing extracellular calcium ions influx into the myoplasm, or 2) by releasing stored calcium ions from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) found within the myoplasm (Sommerville and Hartshorne, 1986). For the first pathway, i.e. calcium entry into the myoplasm via calcium channels, Rodger and Small, (1991) described these calcium channels as being voltage operated (VOC), receptor operated (ROC), or leak (stretch) channels. These calcium channels allow entry of calcium ions from the extracellular space into the myoplasm.

4.1.1 Voltage Operated Channels

The VOC are activated when the plasma membrane of the cell is depolarized by, for example, high KCl or tetraethylammonium (TEA) (Rodger, 1987). These channels are categorized as L or T type channels (Triggle *et al.*, 1989). The L type channels are characterized by a large conductance, slow inactivation and are very sensitive to dihydropyridines, whereas, the T type channels are characterized by activation at a more negative membrane potential, rapid inactivation and are relatively insensitive to dihydropyridines. The amount of calcium entering into the myoplasm through the L and T type channels (the calcium conductance of the VOC) is directly proportional to the potential difference across the cell membrane (Tsien, 1983). Activated VOC's can be blocked by specific calcium channel blockers (Verapamil, Nifedipine) (Triggle *et al.*, 1989). Lofdahl and Barnes, (1986) found nifedipine to be the 1.10st potent of these blockers on airway smooth muscle tissue.

4.1.2 Receptor Operated Channels

The ROC, are controlled by a receptor for a stimulant substance (Bolton 1979), but the existence of ROC in airway smooth muscle has been debated, due the fact that selective inhibitors for these proposed channels in airway smooth muscle have not yet been found (Rodger and Small, 1991).

4.1.3 Leak Channels

A small quantity of calcium enters into the myoplasm through leak channels by a passive process. This leak process is caused by the large calcium concentration gradient between the intracellular space and the extracellular medium. However, this passive leak of calcium into the cell does not appear to cause activation of the contractile filaments since the leakage only occurs when the cells are in the resting state (Rodger and Small, 1991).

4.2 [Ca++]; Release from Myoplasmic Stores

The other mechanism for increasing $[Ca^{++}]_i$ is by release from myoplasmic stores, the SR (Summerville and Hartshorne, 1986; De Lanerolle, 1989 B; Rodger and Small 1991; Kirkpatrick, 1975). This pathway was discovered from experiments studying the effects of contractile agonists on airway smooth muscle which was bathed in low calcium Krebs-Henseleit, or by using dihydropyridines which block the L-type channels (Kirkpatrick, 1975; Fukui *et al.*, 1989; Marthan *et al.*, 1987). From their studies the authors suggested that [Ca++]_i increased and caused contraction secondary to the release from myoplasmic stores since extracellular calcium was largely prevented from entering the cells. Also, Coburn and Baron, (1990) found that the myoplasmic stores, such as the SR, can only be activated by pharmacomechanical coupling.

4.2.1 Myoplasmic Stores and IP3

The second messenger, inositol-1,4,5, trisphosphate (IP3) has been proposed as one mechanism for calcium release from the SR (Chilvers and Nahorski, 1991; Coburn and Baron, 1990). Rapid intracellular IP3 accumulation has been demonstrated after contractile agonist stimulation of airway smooth muscle (Langlands *et al.*, 1989; Chilvers *et al.*, 1989; Hell *et al.* 1989). This mechanism operates as follows: once the receptor on the plasma membrane is activated, phosphotidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) undergoes hydrolysis mediated by a G protein. This transmembrane signalling activates an inositol phospholipidspecific phospholipase C (PLC) enzyme, which cleaves the PIP2 to form IP3 and diacylglycerol, both of which accumulate in the myoplasm (Coburn and Baron, 1990). The increase of IP3 directly activates a channel on the SR membrane which allows calcium to leak into the myoplasm. This channel remains open as long as IP3 is bound to the SR binding site (Ghosh *et al.*, 1988).

The mechanisms discussed above for increasing and decreasing [Ca++], in the myoplasm is illustrated in figure 1.2.



Figure #1.2 Calcium pathways in airway smooth muscle cell (modified from Sommerville and Hartshorne, 1986)

4.3 Mechanisms to Decrease $[Ca^{++}]_i$

Because high $[Ca^{++}]_i$ over an extended period of time is toxic to the cell, the calcium is removed from the myoplasm via two mechanisms, 1) via an ATP-driven

calcium pump or 2) by a Na+/Ca++ exchanger. The Na+/Ca++ exchanger is a lowaffinity, high-capacity system which extrudes calcium whenever the myoplasmic concentration is in the micromolar range. This mechanism has been demonstrated in bovine tracheal smooth muscle (Slaughter *et al.*, 1987). The ATP-driven calcium pump is a high-affinity low-capacity system which has been described to maintain the calcium level at rest (DiPolo and Beauge, 1990).

4.4 [*Ca++*]_{*i*} and *PKC*

Another mechanism for controlling intracellular calcium levels was proposed by Rasmussen *et al.*, (1987) and it involves activation of a phospholipid-dependent protein (protein kinase C, (PKC)). PKC activation is critically dependant on $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and diacylglycerol concentration. The diacylglycerol synthesized via the hydrolysis of PIP2 causes a translocation of PKC from the cytosol to the endoplasmic face of the plasmalemma. This translocation increases the affinity of PKC for calcium, thus lending itself to modulating the $[Ca^{++}]_i$ during the sustained phase of smooth muscle contraction. It should be noted that the precise physiological function of PKC is not completely understood and Nishizuka, (1988) found that there are several discrete sub-species of PKC which can play a role in the contractile process.

5. Mechanism of Muscle Contraction

Once there is a rise in free intracellular calcium, the calcium is available for binding to a specific myoplasmic binding protein (calmodulin) (Cheung, 1980).

The calcium/calmodulin interacts with myosin light chain kinase causing the kinase to phosphorylate myosin at the two 20-kDa light chains. In turn, there is an increase in actinomyosin ATPase which results in cross-bridge cycling (Cheung, 1980; De Lanerolle, 1989). This activated calcium calmodulin pathway is depicted in figure 1.3.



Figure #1.3 Calcium calmodulin activation (modified from De Lanerolle, 1989 B).

6. Maintenance of Isometric Tension

The relationship between the $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric contraction in smooth muscle up to now has probably been oversimplified: an increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ will give rise to smooth muscle contraction. To date, it is unclear if increased $[Ca^{++}]_i$ is required to maintain the isometric tension of smooth muscle. Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, (1989); Aksoy *et al.*, (1983); Karaki, (1989); Ozaki *et al.*, (1990) have all noted that the increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ is transient, but the smooth muscle maintains its force when stimulated with certain pharmacological agents. In acetylcholine or carbachol exposure, this transient $[Ca^{++}]_i$ increase is represented by a rapid rise followed by a decline to just above baseline (Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, 1989). It should be noted that the magnitude of change in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ depends on the tissue type, the experimental temperature, the agonist used and its concentration (Gunst, 1989; Rodger and Small, 1990).

An explanation of how tension is maintained during low $[Ca^{++}]_i$ can be explained by the work of Dillon *et al.*, (1981). They examined the phosphorylation of myosin in both relaxed and contracted vascular smooth muscle. They found myosin phosphorylation, like the changes in $[Ca^{++}]_i$, was transient (it increased initially when the muscle contracted, but then fell back to baseline while tension was maintained). These findings were best explained by a new type of cross-bridge: the latch bridge.

6.1 Latch Bridge

A latch bridge mechanism initially has cross-bridge cycling (applying the basic function: increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ increases the tension) then the cycling slows down and the cross-bridges form a latch or attachment to each other. This attachment maintains the force during the tonic component of the contraction, uses less ATP and therefore requires less activator calcium. De Lanerolle, (1989 B); Rodger and Small, (1991) also applied this latch-bridge theory to airway smooth muscle

contraction.

6.2 PKC

Rasmussen, (1990) proposed a theory, which was previously mentioned, on how tension is maintained at approximate baseline $[Ca^{++}]_i$ values. Because the myosin light-chain kinase is indirectly affected by the decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ (refer to figure 1.3), he proposed that a calcium-independent myosin light-chain kinase exists. This kinase, which can be phosphorylated by PKC, could therefore keep the myosin light-chains phosphorylated and maintain the contractile machinery during sustained tension.

6.3 Caldesmon and Calponin

Gerthoffer, (1991) suggested that there may be another calcium regulatory system which can act on cross-bridge cycling in airway smooth muscle. It involves the calcium calmodulin pathway combined with two other regulatory proteins, caldesmon and calponin, which are found in airway smooth muscle. These two proteins, once phosphorylated, can relieve an inhibition of actomyosin ATPase which occurs normally with resultant increased cross-bridge cycling rate and force production.

7. [Ca++]i Measurement in Airway Smooth Muscle Tissue

As mentioned earlier, the level of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ is linked to the contractile mechanism; therefore, an accurate technique to monitor $[Ca^{++}]_i$, would provide useful information. To date, monitoring $[Ca^{++}]_i$ has been accomplished using: calcium selective microelectrodes (Ashley and Campbell, 1979), aequorin (a bioluminescent protein) chemiluminescence (Gunst, 1989; Tukawa *et al.*, 1987), radioactive labelled calcium (Scheid and Fay, 1984), and fluorescent calcium indicators (Ozaki *et al.*, 1990; Kao *et al.*, 1989). Each one of the techniques is useful for specific applications.

7.1 Calcium Microelectrodes

In the study of airway smooth muscle contraction, measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ using calcium microelectrodes is not suitable because they cannot follow the rapid calcium fluxes involved in this physiological response and besides, their need for simultaneous membrane potential measurements make them technically difficult to use (Tsien, 1988).

7.2 Aequorin Chemiluminescence

The results obtained using aequorin chemiluminescence on airway smooth muscle tissue strip preparations are conflicting (Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, 1989; Tukawa *et al.*, 1987). When isoproterenol was applied to the muscle strip, Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, (1989) found baseline $[Ca^{++}]_i$ values measured by chemiluminescence did not increase whereas, Tukawa *et al.*, (1987) found an increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$. This difference in results could be caused by different animal tissues or different temperatures during experimentation (Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, 1989), or it could indicate that the aequorin chemiluminescence technique produces variable results and therefore it is not suitable for measuring changes in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in airway smooth muscle. The results from Tukawa *et al.*, (1987), where isoproterenol increased $[Ca^{++}]_i$, are not supported by the electrophysiological studies on airway smooth muscle cells (Fujiwara *et al.*, 1988). Fujiwara *et al.*, (1988) demonstrated that procaterol, a β -adrenoceptor agonist, caused the cells to hyperpolarize, reducing the probability of opening of calcium VOC and Marthan *et al.*, (1989) stated that calcium influx and $[Ca^{++}]_i$ under these circumstances should have been reduced rather than increased as suggested by Tukawa *et al.*, (1987).

The discrepancies in the literature on $[Ca^{++}]_i$ changes using aequorin chemiluminescence and the problems associated with using calcium microelectrodes left fluorescent calcium indicators as the only potentially useful technique. Fura II has been used for $[Ca^{++}]_i$ measurement in airway smooth muscle cell preparations (Felbel *et al.*, 1988), and to study $[Ca^{++}]_i$ changes in airway smooth muscle whole tissue preparations (Ozaki *et al.*, 1990). Fluo-3 is a recently developed fluorescent calcium indicator (Minta *et al.*, 1989) which has been found useful for measuring $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in T-lymphocytes, fibroblasts, platelets and neutrophils (Kao *et al.*, 1989; Merritt *et al.*, 1990).

7.3 Fluorescent Indicators

When choosing a fluorescent indicator, one must consider all characteristics of the dye. In my case, I required an indicator to measure $[Ca^{++}]_i$ while simultaneously measuring isometric tension in bovine tracheal smooth muscle

tissue preparations. Fura II, when used in airway smooth muscle cells or other cell types, does show reproducibility in [Ca++], measurement, but this indicator has other major problems when applied to whole tissue preparations. Ozaki et al., (1987) and Sato et al., (1988) found that nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) has similar excitation and emission characteristics to myoplasmic fura-2 dye and that the presence of NADH in tissue preparations causes excessive fluorescence at 340 nm while underestimating fluorescence at 380 nm. This NADH affect can cause large errors in the measurement of [Ca++]_i. In addition to the NADH interference, the fura II dye excitation wavelengths are within the UV range, and UV light has been shown to cause cellular damage (Merritt et al., 1990; Minta et al., 1989; Williams and Fay, 1986). Still another major problem with fura-II is that the Kd (dissociation constant) increases from 2.5 to 4 fold in some cells due to binding with certain proteins (Wier et al., 1987; Karaki, 1989) and therefore quantitative measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ is difficult or impossible. A fluorescent probe for [Ca++]_i, such as fluo-3, which is not affected by other intracellular compounds and which has a fluorescent wavelength outside the UV range seemed to be more desa able for my proposed application.

7.3.1 Fluo-3 as a Calcium indicator

Fluo-3 is composed of a calcium selective binding site (an EGTA complex which is similar to other fluorescent indicators) and a distinct fluorophore side chain, (the AM ester derivative has the COO- groups of fluo-3 replaced by COOCH₂OCOCH₃, see molecular structure in figure 1.4) (Tsien, 1988). Fluo-3

operates in the following manner: once the free calcium binds to fluo-3, the electrons on the amino nitrogen are diverted away from the rest of the conjugated system which mimics the disconnection of the nitrogen substituents from the fluorophore. This gives rise to a large spectral change (increase in fluorescent intensity) (Tsien, 1988).



Figure #1.4 Molecular structure of fluo-3 salt (according to Tsien, 1988).

The fluorescent properties of Fluo-3 make it a potentially useful indicator for [Ca++]i measurement in whole tissue preparations even though its has been primarily used for cellular preparations. Fluo-3 has a single excitation wavelength (506 nm), which is outside the UV range, and at this wavelength NADH does not affect the fluorescent characteristics of this dye. The emission wavelength for fluo-3 is 526 nm. Fluo-3 is almost nonfluorescent as a free dye (when in a calcium free solution), but once converted to the calcium complex within cells, fluo-3 undergoes an approximate 40 fold enhancement of fluorescence (Minta *et al.*,
1989). Another useful characteristic of this dye is its calcium affinity. Fluo-3 has a weaker calcium affinity (a larger dissociation constant (Kd~860 nM at 37 °C) than that of fura-2 (224 nM at 37 °C) (Merritt et al., 1990), which makes it an indicator with increased resolution at both nanomolar and higher levels of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ (Minta et al., 1989). This larger range of calcium measurement is desirable when completing a fluorescent maxima and fluorescent minima calibration curve. The possibility of Kd changing once fluo-3 is in the cytosol has been studied using lymphocytes (Kao et al., 1989) and it was found that no significant change in the Kd occurred after loading with Fluo-3 AM. Therefore, fluo-3 seems to be a good agent for quantitative analysis of [Ca++]_i. An undesirable characteristic of fluo-3 is its inability to shift the excitation or emission wavelengths when bound to calcium which compensates for dye concentration changes and therefore, the $[Ca^{++}]_i$ measurement is not a calculated ratio between the amplitudes of the two wavelengths (bound and unbound dye), such as for fura-II and indol-1. However, fluo-3 has many desirable properties and because of these I chose this fluorescent indicator to measure [Ca++], in bovine trachealis muscle tissue.

8. Inflammatory Mediators

Histamine is a known agonist for smooth muscle contraction, and was used extensively in this thesis. Hence, I have provided an in depth review of its properties. It is a 2-(4-imidazolyl) ethylamine, and its structure is shown in figure 1.5 (Rang and Dale, 1987). In the *in vivo* situation its concentration is highest in the gastrointestinal tract, lung, and skin. It is synthesized from histidine to histamine via L-histidine decarboxylase, and stored in granules within mast cells and basophils (Rang and Dale, 1989).



Figure #1.5 Structure of histamine

The possible role it plays in the pathogenesis of asthma is twofold: histamine causes bronchoconstriction, both in the lower and upper airways (Barnes, 1989), and it can cause inflammation and edema in the airway walls (Cooper *et al.*, 1989; Cavanah and Casale, 1987). Cooper *et al.*, (1989) have shown that the release of histamine can occur rapidly in normal bronchi after a non antigenic stimulus, and that this release induces bronchoconstriction *in vivo*. Histamine, when added to the bathing medium, has been shown to isometrically contract bovine (Kirkpatrick, 1975), guinea pig (Fukui *et al.*, 1989) and canine (Katsuyama *et al.*, 1990) tracheal smooth muscle.

The mechanism by which histamine causes contraction of airway smooth muscle is not clearly understood. The proposed theory is that histamine acts directly through the membrane bound H1 receptor (Ash and Schild, 1966; Douglas, 1985) causing (via the mobilization of calcium from intracellular stores) an increase in [Ca++]i which activates the contractile filaments (Takuwa *et al.*, 1987; Kotlikoff *et al.*, 1987). This elevation in [Ca++]i has been associated with

the myoplasmic elevation of the second messenger 'inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate' (IP3) (Barnes et al., 1986; Hall and Hill, 1988). The maintenance of force during a histamine-induced contraction has been linked to the PKC mechanism, which was mentioned earlier (Park and Rasmussen, 1985; Takuwa et al., 1987). Also, the influence of extracellular calcium on bovine tracheal smooth muscle contraction. caused by histamine, was demonstrated by extracellular calcium depletion and calcium channel blocker experiments (Kirkpatrick, 1975). Kirkpatrick, 1975 showed that the rate, height and maintenance of tension were associated to extracellular calcium. One other possible mechanism of histamine-induced smooth muscle contraction is via H1 activation of vagal afferent fibres causing a subsequent release of acetylcholine onto the muscle fibres (Cavanah and Casale, 1987). There are also two other histamine receptor subtypes, H2 and H3. The H2 receptor does not appear to play a role in regulating airway smooth muscle tone (Barnes, 1989), but it has been shown to exist in lung homogenates (Foreman et al., 1985). H3 receptors have been shown to have some indirect affects on smooth muscle tone, in that it has been shown to inhibit both cholinergic neurotransmission and the non adrenergic, non cholinergic, bronchoconstriction, which is mediated by neuropeptides such as neurokinin A (Casale, 1991). Also, the H3 receptor, once stimulated, has been shown to inhibit mast cell mediator release and therefore acts as a self-regulating mechanism (Casale, 1991).

Histamine has also been linked to proliferation of airway smooth muscle (Panettieri *et al.*, 1990); increasing the overall muscle mass which is one of the pathological features associated with asthma (Dunnill *et al.*, 1969).

Three other inflammatory mediators were used in my research: Leukotriene D₄

(LTD₄), prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2\alpha}), and platelet-activating factor (PAF), because these have been shown to cause bronchospasm of the airways *in vivo* (Kern *et al.*, 1986; Denjean *et al.*, 1983; Malo *et al.*, 1982). These inflammatory mediators are found *in vivo* and their mechanisms for contraction in airway smooth muscle have not been defined.

LTD₄ and PGF_{2 α} are lipid compounds. They are synthesized from the metabolism of arachadonic acid by the cyclooxygenase and lipoxygenase pathways (Sigal, 1991), and their synthesis is depicted in figure 1.6. LTD4 is produced by many cell types: mast cells, basophils, monocytes, eosinophils, and macrophages (Abraham and Wanner, 1988) and causes isometric contraction *in vitro* in both human and guinea pig airway smooth muscle (Kohrogi *et al.*, 1985; Advenir *et al.*, 1983). The contractile response caused by LTD4 in human airways is thought to occur by interaction with specific airway receptors and not by production of cyclooxygenase products (Drazen and Austen, 1987).

PGF2 α is produced by basophils, neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages, mast cells, and many other cell types (Abraham and Wanner, 1988), and has been shown to cause contraction in vascular, iris sphincter and airway smooth muscle *in vitro* (Asano *et al.*, 1989; Yousufzai *et al.*, 1989; Douglas and Brink, 1987). Abraham and Wanner, 1988 state that "the cyclooxygenase metabolites may be more important in modulating the airway effects rather than in mediating them.



Figure #1.6 Simplified arachadonic acid metabolism (modified from Abraham and Wanner, 1988)

PAF, is a 1-0-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glyceryl-3-phosphorylcholine compound (Demopoulos *et al.*, 1979), formed by a two step process: 1) deacylating the 1-0alkyl-2-acyl-glycerophosphocholine giving the inactive precursor Lyso-PAF and 2) acetylation of Lyso-PAF by acetyltransferase making the active PAF compound mentioned above. PAF is found in basophils, neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages, and possibly mast cells (Abraham and Wanner, 1988). The contractile effect of PAF on canine tracheal smooth muscle strips is thought to require mediation by the release of 5-Hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) from platelets (Popovich *et al.*, 1988) and therefore, platelets are felt to be necessary (in the bathing medium) to elicit any PAF-induced contractile response in tracheal and bronchial smooth muscle (Schellenberg *et al.*, 1983; Popovich *et al.*, 1988).

9. B Agonist as a Muscle Relaxant

Because bronchospasm is one of the main features of asthma, the relaxation of airway smooth muscle is paramount for returning the asthmatic patient to his or her normal state. Ahlquist, (1948) showed that adrenaline alleviates bronchospasm and that two types of receptors exist on smooth muscle, α and β . Using autoradiographic studies, Carstairs *et al.*, (1985) confirmed that human bronchial smooth muscle β -adrenoceptors are entirely of the β_2 subtype. The selectivity for the β_2 -adrenoceptors is important, because this specific receptor causes the biochemical events which mediate relaxation in airway smooth muscle. The differences between α , β_1 and β_2 have led to the development of adrenergic agonists that can preferentially act on β_2 receptors of the airway smooth muscle, with limited stimulation of the β_1 receptor which has profound cardiovascular effects (Meltzer and Kemp 1991). For many years the treatment for asthma has been based on β -agonist inhalation therapy (Paterson *et al.*, 1979).

9.1 Salbutamol

The β_2 -agonists resemble the endogenous compound adrenaline, except that they are more selective for the β_2 -adrenoceptors (Meltzer and Kemp, 1991).

Salbutamol (trade name Ventolin) was chosen for its relaxant properties, because it is one of the drugs used for controlling asthma, and it is very specific for the B_2 -adrenoceptor. The molecular structure of salbutamol is shown in figure 1.7.



Figure #1.7 Molecular structure of salbutamol (according to Meltzer and Kemp, 1991).

The following is the proposed mechanism for inhaled salbutamol-induced relaxation of airway smooth muscle: After inhalation of salbutamol aerosol the compound binds to β_2 -adrenoceptors (Stiles *et al.*, 1984) which are found on the exterior surface of the cell membrane of epithelium, serous glands, and airway smooth muscle (Barnes and Basbaum, 1983). After attaching to the β_2 -adrenoceptor, salbutamol causes a reaction of guanyl nucleotide binding stimulator protein (G protein known as Ns or Gs) (Benovic *et al.*, 1985) and activates adenylate cyclase (a single polypeptice glycoprotein (Gilman, 1987)). The Gs protein is a heterotrimer composed of α , β and γ subunits (Caron, 1985); the α subunit contains the binding site for guanosine 5'-triphosphate (GTP), and the β and γ subunits act as inhibitors for adenylate cyclase activation (Gilman, 1987). Activation of adenylate cyclase results from binding guanosine

diphosphate (GDP) to the α subunit which is later replaced by GTP. Once the GTP is bound to the α subunit the Gs heterotrimer breaks apart (β and γ subunits are shed) leaving an Gs-alpha-GTP conglomeration (Gilman, 1987). This Gs-alpha-GTP unit then activates the adenylate cyclase pathway. Once activated, the adenylate cyclase combines with other compounds (found intracellularly) to produce adenosine 3', 5', cyclic monophosphate (cyclic AMP), which causes smooth muscle relaxation. The association between adenylate cyclase and cyclic AMP will be discussed in greater detail under the subheading relaxation of airway smooth muscle.

10. Cyclic Nucleotides and Airway Smooth Muscle

Cyclic AMP and cyclic 3'-5'-guanosine monophosphate (cyclic GMP) are two main nucleotides which have been examined extensively for their effect on smooth muscle tone. Meltzer and Kemp, (1991) stated that "the parasympathetic limb of the autonomic nervous system is responsible for bronchoconstriction which is mediated by cyclic GMP, and the sympathetic system controls bronchodilation which is mediated by cyclⁱc AMP." This relationship, also known as the "Ying Yang" hypothesis (Goldberg *et al.*, 1975), is based on the concept that intracellular cyclic GMP mediates contraction only, whereas, intracellular cyclic AMP mediates relaxation only. This theory is based on results from various types of smooth muscle, but it may not hold for airway smooth muscle. Torphy *et al.*, (1985) added a membrane permeable analog of cyclic GMP (8-bromo-cyclic GMP) to precontracted tracheal smooth muscle strips and discovered that it too, caused relaxation. In addition, Pfitzer *et al.*, (1984) found that adding cyclic GMP to vascular smooth muscle caused a significant relaxation.

Katsuki and Murad, (1976) approached the cyclic nucleotide dilemma by simultaneously measuring intracellular cyclic AMP and cyclic GMP concentrations along with isometric tension in bovine tracheal smooth muscle tissue strips. Their aim was to determine if any correlation existed between the two cyclic nucleotides and isometric tension. They found neither a consistent parallel, or a reciprocal change in cyclic AMP or cyclic GMP levels during contraction or relaxation induced by a variety of agents and therefore, their concentrations are not correlated (Katsuki and Murad, 1976). Andersson *et al.*, (1975) completed studies on various types of smooth muscle, including bovine tracheal smooth muscle, and they found no simple relationship between the

By establishing a seemingly independent role between cyclic GMP and cyclic AMP, and determining that there is no correlation between the two, I focused my research on the nucleotide linked to airway smooth muscle relaxation "cyclic AMP".

To help establish a link between airway smooth muscle tone and cyclic AMP concentration, Gold, (1980) stated that "relaxation of many smooth muscles is often associated with increased concentration of cyclic AMP" and "contraction is not generally associated with decreased concentration of cyclic AMP." Rinard *et al.*, (1983) supported Gold's statement by reporting a significant increase in cytoplasmic cyclic AMP concentration when tracheal smooth muscle tissue was

preincubated with isoproterenol. Using precontracted bovine tracheal smooth muscle Hall *et al.*, (1989) found that there was a significant and maintained accumulation of cytosolic cyclic AMP when the muscle was relaxed with salbutamol.

An alternate way to increase the cyclic AMP concentration is by inhibiting the breakdown of cyclic AMP. Hall *et al.*, (1989) found significant increases in accumulation of cyclic AMP when bovine tracheal strips were pretreated with isobutyl methylxanthine (IBMX), a non-specific phosphodiesterase inhibitor. Hall *et al.*, (1989) also noted that the effect of phosphodiesterase-inhibition (cyclic AMP increase) on histamine induced inositol phosphate accumulation was saturable.

10.1 Multidimensional Role of Cyclic AMP on Smooth Muscle Contraction

To this point I have described how relaxation of smooth muscle is associated with cyclic AMP concentration. There are however, some discrepancies in the literature on cyclic AMP levels during airway smooth muscle contraction. Katsuki and Murad, (1976) simultaneously measured cyclic AMP concentration and isometric tension in bovine tracheal smooth muscle. They found that the concentration of cyclic AMP increased when the muscle strip was stimulated with bronchodilating adrenergic agonists, and also with high concentrations of the bronchoconstrictors histamine, carbachol, and K⁺. These results suggest that there is no association between relaxation of airway smooth muscle and cyclic AMP accumulation and/or that there are possibly different functional pools of cyclic AMP in airway smooth muscle (Katsuki and Murad, 1976). Palmer, (1972) noted that histamine-induced contraction of guinea pig lung slices caused an increase in cyclic AMP, and Andersson and Nilsson, (1978) using bovine tracheal smooth muscle showed similar results. The cholinergic agonist, carbamylcholine causes decreased levels of cyclic AMP in bovine tracheal smooth muscle (Andersson and Nilsson 1978), but Murad and Kimura, (1974) found acetylcholine increased cyclic AMP levels in guinea pig tracheal rings. The results using other pharmacologic agonists, such as α adrenergic agonists, are also inconsistent; they either inhibit the increase of cyclic AMP (Triner *et al.*, 1971) or had no effect on the level of cyclic AMP (Murad and Kimura, 1974).

The variations in cyclic AMP concentration described above suggests that more research is needed and the role of cyclic AMP in airway smooth muscle seems multidimensional.

10.2 Cyclic AMP Synthesis

Synthesis of cyclic AMP occurs in the cytosol of the cells, near or on the cell membrane (Gold, 1980). Cyclic AMP is formed from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) by a reaction catalyzed by adenylate cyclase. This cyclic AMP formation process has been shown to be endergonic and is accelerated by the subsequent hydrolysis of pyrophosphate (Greengard and Kuo, 1970). Once the cyclic AMP is formed it binds to either a specific protein kinase in airway smooth muscle (Gold, 1980), or to voltage operated calcium channels causing decreased activation of calcium flux in the vascular smooth muscle cells (Meisheri and Van Breeman, 1982), or to dihydropyridine insensitive calcium channels causing

increased activation and a calcium flux into airway smooth muscle cells (Takuwa *et al.* 1988). Related to the first proposed cyclic AMP binding, there are two types of soluble cyclic AMP-dependant protein kinases (type I and type II) (Corbin *et al.*, 1975). The variation between the two kinases is the type of receptor subunit (R2) isoenzymes found on the R2C2 complex shown below. Each kinase has two receptor subunits (R2) which bind the cyclic AMP and two catalytic units (C2) (Gold, 1980).

R2C2 (inactive) + 4 cyclic AMP--> 2{R(cyclicAMP)2} + 2C(active)

(Goldie et al., 1991)

After being synthesized, the cyclic AMP molecules bind to the regulatory subunits of the protein kinases "A-kinase" (Adelstein *et al.*, 1981). This complex can then phosphorylate specific proteins setting in motion a variety of biochemical events which result in the relaxation of airway smooth muscle (Gold, 1980); this will be discussed in greater detail below.

The effects of cyclic AMP on calcium channels in airway smooth muscle are not clearly established. As mentioned earlier, Tukawa *et al.*, (1989) proposed that the rise in cyclic AMP causes an increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ from activation of a dihydropyridine insensitive calcium channel, whereas Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, (1989) found no change in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ when the trachealis strip was stimulated with isoproterenol.

10.3 Cyclic AMP Degradation

The metabolism of cyclic AMP is completed by a specific phosphodiesterase.

There are many different types of phosphodiesterases which act on various isoforms: calcium-calmodulin stimulated phosphodiesterase I (PDE I) (Reeves *et al.*, 1987), cyclic GMP selective phosphodiesterase II (PDE II), cyclic AMP specific phosphodiesterase III and IV (PDE III and PDE IV) (Appleman *et al.*, 1973), and a non-selective phosphodiesterase (PDE).

These phosphodiesterases are found within the cells of the tissue (Gold, 1980) and both PDE III, IV and PDE phosphouiesterases hydrolyse cyclic AMP to the inactive form (adenosine monophosphate) (Appleman *et al.*, 1973). The phosphodiesterase activity was found to be critically modulated by calcium regulatory proteins, and these calcium regulatory proteins effectively increase the soluble, but not the membrane bound, phosphodiesterases (Chang, 1971). The stability of cyclic AMP in the cytosol is determined by the concentration of phosphodiesterase present in the cytosol (Greengard and Kuo, 1970).

10.4 Cyclic AMP and Airway Smooth Muscle Relaxation

There are two proposed mechanisms of how 'increased cyclic AMP concentration' mediates relaxation of smooth muscle. One mechanism is by activation of cyclic AMP-dependant protein kinase which phosphorvlates myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) (Silver and Stull 1982). Once the MLCK is phosphorylated it has a decreased affinity for the calcium/calmodulin complex which decreases the phosphorylation of myosin causing a reduction in actin/myosin interaction (cross bridge cycling) and thus, relaxation of the muscle (Adelstein *et al.*, 1978; Conti *et al.*, 1981; and Nishikawa *et al.*, 1984). The second proposed mechanism for cyclic AMP-induced smooth muscle relaxation

involves a decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$. A decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ has been shown to occur by: a re-uptake of intracellular calcium via the sarcoplasmic reticulum (Itoh *et al.*, 1982), a reduction in calcium influx (Meisheri and Van Breeman, 1982), an increase in calcium efflux (Bulbring and den Hertog, 1980; Scheid *et al.*, 1979; and Van Breeman, 1977).

Measurement of [Ca++]_i when cyclic AMP levels are raised should indicate the relationship between the two second messengers, but it will not show were the calcium is mobilized (extracellularly, S.R.). To establish a better understanding of the mobilization of calcium in relationship to elevated cyclic AMP levels in tracheal smooth muscle the measurement of both intra and extracellular calcium will be compared at various cyclic AMP concentrations. Measurement of extracellular calcium surrounding the trachealis muscle, using fluo-3 pentaamonnium salt (cell impermeant), when relaxed with salbutamol and/or precontracted with histamine is an important experiment, because 1) it is an attempt at looking at small changes in the extracellular calcium concentration and 2) the proposed smooth muscle relaxation experiments describing the calcium pathway were completed on smooth muscle other than airway. Rodger and Small, (1990) reported that "there have, as yet, been no reports of action of B-adrenoceptor agonists in promoting the extrusion of calcium from airway smooth muscle". However, Scheid et al., (1979) gave a clear explanation of the calcium efflux mechanism based on results obtained using stomach smooth muscle cells: the calcium efflux was caused by B-adrenoceptor stimulation which increased the activity of cyclic AMP-dependant protein phosphorylation. This

cyclic AMP-dependant protein phosphorylation caused the sodium/potassium pump to increase ion movement, thereby indirectly activating the sodium/calcium exchanger to decrease the $[Ca^{++}]_i$. Results obtained from simultaneous measurement of extracellular calcium and isometric tension when combined with results from simultaneous measurement of intracellular calcium and isometric tension would be beneficial in understanding calcium fluxes in airway smooth muscle tissue in different stages of contraction or relaxation.

The contraction of smooth muscle, as stated earlier, is dependant on the free calcium ions within the cytoplasm of the cell (Bolton, 1979; Taylor and Stull, 1988; and Takuwa *et al.*, 1987). Therefore, decreasing intracellular calcium should cause relaxation. DeLanerolle,(1989 A) explained the decreased calcium relaxation mechanism as follows: a decrease in intracellular free calcium to $\simeq 10^{-7}$ M leads to a dissociation of the calcium-calmodulin complex from the myosin light-chain kinase, which results in the inactive form of the enzyme which causes relaxation of the muscle. Figure 1.8 depicts both mechanisms discussed above and how they can cause relaxation.



Figure #1.8 Proposed mechanisms for smooth muscle relaxation. (modified from Goldie *et al.*, 1991)

References

ABRAHAM, W., M., AND A. WANNER, **1988**, Inflammatory Mediators of Asthma, *Pediatric Pulmonology* 4: 237-247.

ADELSTEIN, R., S., PATO, M., D., AND M. A. CONTI, **1981**, The role of phosphorylation in regulating contractile protein. *Adv. Cyclic Nucleotide Res.* 14: 301-373.

ADELSTEIN, R., S., CONTI, M., A., HATHAWAY, D., R., AND C. B. KLEE, **1978**, Phosphorylation of smooth muscle myosin light chain kinase by the catalytic subunit of adenosine3':5'-monophosphate-dependent protein kinase, *J. Biol. Chem.* 253:8347-8350.

ADVENJER, C., CERRINA, J., DUROUX, P., FLOCH, A., PRADEL, J., AND A. RENIER, **1983**, Sodium cromoglycate, verapamil and nicardipine antagonism to leukotriene D₄ bronchoconstriction. *Br. J. Pharmac.* 78: 301 - 306.

AHLQUIST, R., P., 1948, A study of the adrenotropic receptor. Am. J. Physiol. 153: 586-600.

AHMED, F., FOSTER, R., W., SMALL, R., C., AND A. H. WESTON, **1984**, Some features of the spasmogenic actions of acetylcholine and histamine in guinea-pig isolated trachealis. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 83: 227-233.

AKSOY, M., O., MRAS, S., KAMM, K., E., AND R. A. MURPHY, **1983**, Ca2+, cAMP, and changes in myosin phosphorylation during contraction of smooth muscle, *Am. J. Physiol.* 245(Cell Physiol. 14): C255-C270, 1983.

ANDERSSON, R., G., G., AND K. B. NILSSON, **1978**, Role of cyclic nucleotide metabolism and mechanical activity in smooth muscle. In *The Biochemistry of Smooth Muscle*. Edited by N. L. Stephens. Baltimore, University Park Press, pp. 263-291.

APPLEMAN, M., W., THOMPSON, W., J., AND T. R. RUSSELL, 1973, Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases, *Adv. Cyclic Nucleotide Res.*, 3: 65-98.

ASANO, T., SUZUKI, T., TSUCHIYA, M., SATOH, S., IKEGAKI, I., SHIBUYA, M., SUZUKI, Y., AND H. HIDAKA, **1989**, Vasodilator actions of HA1077 in vitro and in vivo putatively mediated by the inhibition of protein kinase, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 98(4): 1091-100.

ASH, A., S., F., AND H. O. SCIILD, **1966**, Receptors mediating some actions of histamine, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 27: 427-439.

ASHLEY, C., C., AND A. K. CAMPBELL, **1979**, *Detection and Measurement of Free Ca++ in Cells*, Edited by C. C. Ashley and A. K. Campbell, Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam.

BARNES, P., J., 1986, Bronchodilator mechanisms. In Asthma: Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutic Progress. Edited by Kay, A. B. Oxford: Blackwell. p. 58-72

BARNES, P., J., 1989, Cell-Surface Receptors in Airway Smooth Muscle. In Airway Smooth Muscle in Health and Disease, Edited by R. F. Coburn. New York: Plenum, p. 77-97.

BARNES, P. J., AND C. B. BASBAUM, 1983, Mapping of adrenergic receptors in the trachea by autoradiography, *Exp. Lung Res.* 5: 183-192.

BENOVIC, J., L., PIKES, L., J., AND R. A. CERIONE, **1985**, Phosphorylation of the mammalian β -adrenergic receptor by cyclic AMP-dependant protein kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 260: 7094-7101.

BLOOM AND D. W. FAWCETT, 1986, The respiratory system. In A Textbook of Histology. Edited by D. W. Fawcett, W. B. Saunders Company, pg. 731-754.

BOLTON, T., B., 1979, Mechanisms of action of transmitters and other substances on smooth muscle. *Physiol. Rev.* 59: 606-718. BULBRIN, E, AND A. DEN HERTOG, **1980**, The action of isoprenaline on the smooth muscle of the guinea pig taenia coli, *J. Physiol.* 304: 277-296.

CARON, M., G., CERIONE R. A., AND J. J., BENOVIC, **1985**, Biochemical characterization of the adrenergic receptors. In, *Advances in Cyclic Nucleotide and Protein Phosphorylation Research*, Editors D. M. F. Cooper, K. B. Seamon, Vol.19., Raven, New York, p. 1.

CARSTAIRS, J., R., NIMMO, A., J., AND P. J. BARNES, **1985**, Autoradiographic localization of beta-adrenoceptors in human lung, *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 103: 189-190.

CASALE, T., B., 1991, Mast cell mediators and their effects on airway smooth muscle. In *Inflammatory Cells and Mediators in Bronchial Asthma*, Edited by Agrawal D. K., Townley, R. G., Boca Raton, Florida, CRC press, Inc. p. 57-76.

CAVANAH D., K., AND T. B. CASTLE, 1992, Histamine. In *The Role of Mast Cell in Health and Disease*, Edited by Lenfant C. (Lung Biology in Health and Disease, New York, Marcel Dekker, Inc.

CHEUNG, W., Y., 1980, Calmodulin plays a pivitol role in cellular regulation. Science 207: 19-27. CHILVERS, E., R., AND S. R. NAHORSKI, **1990**, Phosphoinositide Metabolism in Airway Torooth Muscle, Am. Rev. Respir Dis 141: S137-S140.

CHILVERS, E., R., CHALLAIS, J., BARNES, P., J., AND S. R. NAHORSKI, **1989**, Mass changes of inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate in trachealis muscle following agonist stimulation. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 514: 587-590.

COBURN, R., F., AND C. B. BARON, **1990**, Coupling mechanisms in airway smooth muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 258 (Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 2): L119-L133.

CONTI, M., A., AND R. S. ADELSTEIN, **1981**, The relationship between calmodulin binding and phosphorylation of smooth muscle myosin kinase by the catalytic subunit of 3',5' cAMP-dependent protein kinase, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 256: 3178-3181.

COOPER, J., A., D., MERRILL, W., W., AND M. G. BUCK, **1989**, Kinetics of cellular influx and histamine release in normal human bronchi, *Am. J. Physiol.* 257 (Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 1): L277-L283

CORBIN, J., D., KEELY, S., L., AND C. R. PARK, **1975**, The distribution and dissociation of cyclic adenosine 3':5'-monophosphate-dependent protein kinase in adipose, cardiac, and other tissues, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 250: 218-225.

DE LANEROLLE, P., **1989 A**, Cellular control mechanisms in airway smooth muscle. In Airway Smooth Muscle in Health and Disease, Edited by R.F. Coburn, pp.99-125.

DE LANEROLLE, P., 1989 B, Regulation of airway smooth muscle. In Lung Cell Biology, Edited by D. Massaro, Marcel Dekker Inc. pp.153-189.

DENJEAN, A., ARNOUX, B., MASSE, R., LOCKHART, A., AND J. BENVENISTE, 1983, Acute effects of intratracheal administration of platelet-activating factor in baboons, J. Appl. Physiol., 55: 799-804.

DILLON, P., F., AKSOY, M.,O., DRISKA, S.,P., AND R. A. MURPHY, 1981, Myosin phosphoralation and the cross-bridge cycle in arterial smooth muscle. Science 211: 495-497.

DIPOLO, R., AND L. BEAUGE, **1990**, Calcium transport in excitable cells. In *Intracellular Calcium Regulation*, Edited by F. Bronner, Wiley-Liss, Alan R. Liss, Inc. pg. 406.

DOUGLAS, J., S., AND C. BRINK, 1987, Histamine and Prostanoids 2. Mediators, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 136: S21-S37. DOUGLAS, W., W., **1985**, Histamine, Pharmacological effects: H1 and H2 receptors. In *The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics*, Edited by A. G. Gilman and L. S. Goodman, T. W. Rall, F. Murad, McMillan, New York p. 607-611.

DRAZEN, J., M., AND K. F. AUSTEN, 1987, Leukotrienes and airway responses, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 136: 985-998.

DUNNILL, M. S., MASSARELLA, G. R., AND J. A. ANDERSON, **1969**, A comparison of the quantitave anatomy of the bronchi in normal subject, in status asthmaticus, in chronic bronchitis and in emphysema, *Thorax* 24: 176-179.

FELBEL, J., TROCKUR, B., ECKER, T., LANDGRAF, W., AND F. HOFMANN, **1988**, Regulation of cytosolic calcium by cAMP and cGMP in Freshly Isolated Smooth Muscle Cells from Bovine Trachea, *J. Biol. Chem.* 263: No 32 16764-16771.

FOREMAN, J., C., NORRIS, D., B., RISING, T., J., AND S. E. WEBBER, **1985**, The binding of [3H]-tiotidine to homogenates of guinea-pig lung parenchyma, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 86: 475-482.

FORSTER II, R., E., DUBOIS, A., B., BRISCOE, W., A., AND A. B. FISHER, **1986**, Mechanics of breathing. In *The Lung*, Edited by S. S. Scott and K. M. Kelly, Year Hock Medical Publishers, Inc. pp. 65-114. FUKUI, H., HAYASHI, A., FUKUDA, H., TAKEMURA, M., YAMATODANI, A., AND H. WADA, 1989, Dependency of Histamine Induced Phasic and Tonic contractions on Intracellular and Extracellular Calcium in Guinea Pig Tracheal Smooth Muscle, Japan, J. Pharmacol. 50: 125-130.

FUJIWARA, T., SUMINOTO, K., ITOH, T., AND H. KURIYAMA, **1988**, Relaxing actions of procaterol, a beta2-adrenoceptor stimulant, on smooth muscle cells of the dog trachea, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 93: 199-209.

GERTHOFFER, W., T., 1991, Regulation of the contractile element of airway smooth muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 261 (Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 5): L15-L28.

GHOSH, T., K., EIS, P., S., MULLANEY J., M., EBERT, C., L, AND D. L. GILL, 1988, Competitive, reversiable, and potent antagonism of inositol 1, 4, 5,-trisphosphate-activated calcium release by heparine. J. Biol. Chem. 263: 11075-11079

GILMAN, A., G., 1987, G proteins: transducers of receptor generated sygnals. Annu. Rev. Biochem., 56: 615-649.

GOLD, WARREN M., **1980**, Role of cyclic nucleotides in airway smooth muscle. In *Physiology and Pharmacology of the Airways*, Edited by J. A. Nadel, Marcel Dekker, New York. pp.123-190. GOLDBERG, N., D., HADDOX, M., K., NICOL, S., E., GLASS, D., B., SANFORD, C., H., KUEHL, F A., AND R. ESTENSEN, **1975**, Biological regulation through opposing influences of cyclic GMP and cyclic AMP: The ying yang hypothesis, *Advances in Cyclic Nucleotide Research*, 5:307-330.

GOLDIE, R., G., PATERSON, J., W., AND K. M. LULICH, **1991**, Pharmacology of airway smooth muscle. In *Pharmacology of Asthma*, Edited by C. P. Page and P.J. Barnes, Springer-Verlag, pp.167-205.

GREENGARD, PAUL, AND J. F. KUO, 1970, On the mechanism of action of cyclic AMP, In Role of cyclic AMP in cell function, Adv. Biochem. Psychopharm, Vol. 3: 287-306.

GRYNKIEWICZ, G., POENIE M., AND R. Y. TSIEN, **1985**, A new generation of Ca2+ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties, *J. Biol. Chem.* 260: 3440-3450.

GUNST, S., J., AND S. BANDYOPADHYAY, **1989**, Contractile force and intracellular Ca2+ during relaxation of canine tracheal smooth muscle. Am. J. *Physiol.* 257(26): C355-C364.

GUNST, S., J., 1989, Effects of muscle length and load on intracellular Ca2+ in tracheal smooth muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 256(25): C807-C812.

HALL, I., P., DONALDSON, J., AND S. J. HILL, **1988**, Cyclic AMP-mediated inhibition of histamine-induced inositol phospholipid hydrolysis in bovine tracheal smooth muscle. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 95: 748p.

ITOH, T., IZUMI, H., AND H. KURIYAMA, **1982**, Mechanisms of relaxation induced by activation of β -adrenoceptors in smooth muscle cells of the guinea pig mesenteric artery, *J. Physiol.* (Lond.) 326: 475-493.

JACKSON, R., SEARS, M., R., BEAGLEHOLE, R., AND H. H. REA., 1988, International trends in asthma mortality: 1970 to 1985. *Chest* 94: 914-918.

KAO, J., P., Y., HAROOTUNIAN, A., T., AND R. Y. TSIEN., 1989, Photochemically Generated Cytosolic Calcium Pulses and Their Detection by Fluo-3, J. Biol. Chem. 264: 8171-8178.

KARAKI, H., 1989, Ca2+ localization and sensitivity in vascular smooth muscle. Trends Pharmacol. Sci.. Vol.10: 320-325.

KATSUKI, S., AND F. J. MURAD, **1976**, Regulation of Adenosine Cyclic 3',5'-Monophosphate and Guanosine Cyclic 3',5'-Monophosphate Levels and Contractility in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle, *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 13: 330-341.

KATSUYAMA, H., SUZUKI, S., AND E. NISHIYE, **1990**, Action: of second messengers synthesized by various spasmogenic agents and their relation to mechanical responses in dog tracheal smooth muscle, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 100: 41-48.

KERN, R., SMITH, L., J., PATTERSON, R., KRELL, R., D., AND P. R. BERSTEIN, 1986, Characterization of the airway response to inhaled leukotriene D4 in normal subjects, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, 133: 1127-1132.

KIRKPATRICK, C., T., 1975, Excitation and contraction in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle. J. Physiol., 244: 263-281.

KOTLIKOFF, M., I., MURPAY, R., K., AND E. E. REYNOLDS, 1987, Histamine-induced calcium release and phorbol antagonism in cultured airway smooth muscle cells. *Am. J. Physiol.*, 253: C561-C566.

KOHROGI, H., HONDA, I., ANDO, M., MATSUURA, T., KAWANO, O., FUKUDA K., AND S. ARAKI, **1985**, Effects of Calcium Antagonists and Beta Stimulants on Isolated Human Bronchial Contraction Induced by Leukotriene D4 and Potassium. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 131: (4), suppl., A2. LANGLAND, J., M., RODGER, I., W., AND J. DIAMOND, **1989**, The effect of M and B 22948 on methacholine- and histamine-induced contraction and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate levels in guinea-pig tracheal tissue. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 98: 336-338.

LOFDAHL, C., G., AND P. J. BARNES, 1986, Calcium channel blockade and airways function. Acta. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 58 (suppl.2): 91-111.

MALO, P., E., WASSERMAN, M., A., AND R. L. GRIFFIN, **1982**, Effects of intravenous and areosol nifedapine on prostaglandin F2 α and histamine-induced bronchoconstriction in anesthetized dogs, *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 221: 410-415.

MARKOWE, H., L., J., BULPITT, C., J., SHIPLEY, M., J., ROSE, G., CROMBIE, D., L., AND D. M. FLEMING, **1978**, Prognosis in adult asthma: a national study. *B*. *M. J.* 295: 949-952.

MARTHAN, R., J., MARTIN, C., AMEDEE, T., AND J. MIRRONEAU, **1989**, Calcium channel currents in isolated smooth muscle cells from human bronchus, J. Appl. Physiol. 66: 1706-1714.

MARTHAN, R., SAVINEAU, J-P., AND J. MIRONNEAU, **1987**, Acetylcholine-induced contraction in human isolated bronchial smooth muscle: role of an intracellular calcium store. *Respiration Physiology* 67: 127-135. MEISHERI, K., D., AND VAN BREEMAN, 1982, Effects of β -adrenergic stimulation on calcium movements in rabbit aortic smooth muscle: relationship with cyclic AMP, *J. Physiol.* 331: 429-441.

MELTZER, D., L., AND J. P. KEMP, **1991**, Beta2-Agonists: Pharmacology and Recent Developments, *J. Asthma* 28(3): 179-186.

MERRITT, J., E., McCARTHY, S., A., DAVIES, P., A., MOORES, K., E., **1990**, Use of fluo-3 to measure cytosolic Ca2+ in platelets and neutrophils, *Biochem. J.* 269: 513-519.

MINTA, A., KAO J. P. Y., AND R. Y. TSIEN, 1989, Fluorescent indicators for cytosolic calcium based on rhodamine and fluorescein chromophores. J. Bio. Chem. 264(14): 8171-8178. 1989.

MURAD, F., AND H. KIMURA, 1974, Cyclic nucleotide levels in incubations of guinea pig trachea, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 343: 275-286.

NISHIKAWA, M., DE LANEROLLE, P., LINCOLN, T. M., AND R. S.ADELSTEIN, **1984**, Phosphorylation of mammalian myosin light chain kinases by the catalytic subunit of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase and by cyclic GMP-dependant protein kinase, *J. Biol. Chem.* 259: 8429-8436.

OZAKI H., SATO K., SATOH T., AND H. KARAKI, 1987, Simultaneous recordings of calcium signals and mechanical activity using fluorescent dye fura-2 in isolated strips of vascular smooth muscle. Japan. J. Pharmacol. 45: 429-433.

OZAKI H., KWON, S.-C., TAJIMI, M., AND H. KARAKI, **1990**, Changes in cytosolic Ca2+ and contraction induced by various stimulants and relaxants in canine tracheal smooth muscle. *Pflugers Arch* 416: 351-359.

PANETTIERI, R., A., MURRAY R., A., DEPALO L., R., YADVISH, P., A., AND M. I. KOTLIKOFF, **1989**, A human airway smooth muscle cell line that retains physiological responsiveness. *Am. J. Physiol.* 256: C329-C335

PANETTIERI, R., A., YADIVISH, P., A., KELLY, A., M., RUBENSTEIN, N., A., AND M. I. KOTLIKOFF, 1990, Histamine stimulates proliferation of airway smooth muscle and induces c-fos expression, *Am. J. Physiol.* 259 (Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 3): L365-L371.

PALMER, C., G., 1972, Characteristics of the hormonal induced cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate response in the rat and guinea pig lung in vitro, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 252: 561-566.

PARK, S., AND H. RASMUSSEN, **1985**, Activation of tracheal smooth muscle contraction: synergism between Ca2+ and activators of protein kinase C. *Proc.Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 82: 8835-8839.

PATERSON, J., W., WOOLCOCK, A., J., AND G. M. SHENFIELD, 1979, Bronchodialator Drugs. Am. Rev. Resp. Dis. 120: 1149-1188.

PFITZER, G., HOFMANN, F., DISALVO, J., AND J. C. RUEGG, **1984**, cGMP and cAMP inhibit tension development in skinned coronary arteries, *Pflugers Arch*. 401: 277-280.

POPOVICH, K., J., SHELDON, G., MACK, M., MUNOZ, N., M., DENBERG, P., BLAKE, J., WHITE, S., R., AND A. R. LEFF, **1988**, Role of platelets in contraction of canine tracheal muscle elicited by PAF in vitro, *J. Appl. Physiol.* 65(2): 914-920.

PRIDE, N., B., **1983**, Physiology. In *Asthma*, Edited by T. J. H. Clarck and S. Godfrey, Chapman and Hall Medical, pg. 12-36.

RAEBURN, D., AND I. W. RODGER, **1984**, Lack of effect of Leukotriene D4 on Ca-uptake in airway smooth muscle, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 83: 499-504.

RANG, H., P., AND M. M. DALE, **1987**, Locale hormones, inflammation and allergy. In *Pharmacology*, Churchill Livingstone, pg 188.

RASMUSSEN, H., TAKUWA, Y., AND S. PARKS, **1987**, Protein kinase C in the regulation of smooth muscle contraction. *Faseb J*., 1: 177-185.

REEVES, M., L., LEIGH, B., K., AND P. J. ENGLAND, **1987**, The identification of a new cyclic neucleotide phosphodiesterase in human and guinea $\Gamma^{\dagger}g$ cardiac ventricle, *Biochem. J.* 241: 537-543.

RINARD, G., A., JENSEN, A., AND A. M. PUCKETT, **1983**, Hydrocortisone and isoproterenol effects on trachealis cAMP and relaxation, *J. Appl. Physiol.* : Respirat. Environ. Exercise Physiol. 55 (5):1609-1613.

RODGER, I., W., **1987**, Airway smooth muscle and disease workshop, Calcium Channels, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, Oct 136 (4 pt 2): S15-S17.

RODGER, I., W., AND R. C. SMALL, **1991**, Pharmacology of airway smooth muscle. In *Pharmacology of Asthma*, Edited by C. P. Page and P.J. Barnes, Springer-Verlag, pp.107-141.

RUSSELL, J., A., 1978, Responses of isolated canine airways to electric stimulation and acetylcholine. J. Appl. Physiol.: Respirat. Environ. Exercise Physiol. 45(5): 690-698.

SATO K., OZAKI H., AND H. KARAKI, **1988**, Changes in cytosolic calcium level in vascular smooth muscle strip measured simultaneously with contraction using fluorescent calcium indicator fura-2. *J. Pharmcol. Exp. Ther.* 246: 294-300. SCHEID, C., R., HONEYMAN, T., W., AND F. S. FAY, **1979**, Mechanism of βadrenergic relaxation of smooth muscle, *Nature* (Lond.), 277: 32-36.

SCHEID, C., R., AND F. S. FAY, **1984**, β-Adrenergic effects on transmembrane ⁴⁵Ca⁺⁺ fluxes in isolated smooth muscle cells, *Am. J. Physiol.* 246: C431-C438.

SCHELLENBERG, R., WALKER, B., AND F. SNYDER, 1983, Platelet dependant contraction of human bronchi by platelet activating factor. J. Allergy Clin. Immun. 71: 145.

SIGAL, E., **1991**, The molecular biology of mammalian arachidonic acid metabolism, *Am. J. Physiol.* 260 (Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 4): L13-L28.

SILVER, P., J., AND J. T. STULL, **1982**, Regulation of myosin light chain and phosphoralase phosphorylation in tracheal smooth muscle, *J. Biol. Chem.* 257: 6145-6150.

SLAUGHTER, R., S., WELTON, A., F., AND D. W. MORGAN, **1987**, Sodiumcalcium exchanger in sarcolemmal vesicles from tracheal smooth muscle, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 904: 92-104.

SOROKIN, S., P., **1983**, The respiratory system. In *Histology cell and tissue* biology. Edited by L. Weiss, Elsevier Biomedical, pp. 789-867.

SQUIRE, J., 1981, Muscle Regulation, A decade of the steric blocking model, *Nature*(Lond.)) 291: 614-615.

STEPHENS, N., L., KROEGER, E., AND J. A. MENTHA, **1969**, Force-velocity characteristics of respiratory airway smooth muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **26(6)**: 685-692.

STEPHENS, N., L., **1987 A**, Airway smooth muscle and disease workshop, Structure and Mechanical Properties, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 136: S1-S20.

STEPHENS, N., L., 1987 B, Airway Smooth Muscle, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 135: 960-976.

STILES, G., L., CARON, M., G., AND R. J. LEFTKOWITZ, **1984**, β-Adrenergic receptors: biochemical mechanisms of physiological regulation. *Phsiol. Rev.* 64: 661-743.

SUZUKI, H., MORITA, K., AND H. KURIYAMA, **1986**, Innervation and properties of the smooth muscle of dog trachea. *Jpn. J. Physiol.* 26: 303-20.

TAKUWA, Y., TAKUWA, N., AND H. RASMUSSEN, **1987**, Measurement of cytoplasmic free Ca2+ concentration in bovine tracheal smooth muscle using aequorin, *Am. J. Physiol.*, 253: C817-C827.

TAYLOR, D., A., AND J. T. STULL, **1988**, Calcium dependence of myosin light chain phosphorylation in smooth muscle cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263: 14456-14462.

TAYLOR, D., A., BOWMAN, B., F., AND J. T. STULL, **1989**, Cytoplasmic calcium is a primary determinant for myosin phosphorylation in smooth muscle cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264: 6207-6213.

TORPHY, T. J., ZHENG, C., PETERSON, S., M., FISCUS, R., R., RINARD, G., A., AND S. E. MAYER, **1985**, Inhibitory effect of methacholine on drug induced relaxation, cyclic AMP accumulation and cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase activation in canine tracheal smooth muscle, *J. Pharm Exp. Ther*. 233: 409-417.

TRIGGLE, D.,J., ZHENG, W., HAWTHORN, M., KWON, Y., W., WEI, X-Y, JOSLYN, A., FERRANTE, J., AND A.M. TRIGGLE, 1989, Calcium Channels in Smooth Muscle, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 560: 215-229

TSIEN, R., Y., **1983**, Calcium channels in excitable membranes, Annu Rev. Physiol. 45: 341-358.

TSIEN, R., Y., **198**? escent measurement and photochemical manipulation of cytosolic free calcium, *Trends Neurosci.*, Oct. 11(10): 419-424.

VAN BREEMAN, C., 1977, Calcium requirement for activation of intact aortic smooth muscle, J. Physiol. 272: 317-329.

WIER, W., G., CANNEL, M., B., BERLIN, J., R., MARBAN, E., AND W. J. JEDERER, 1987, Cellular and subcellular heterogeneity of [Ca2+]i in single heart cells revealed by fura-II, *Science* 235: 325-328.

WILLIAMS, D., A., AND F. S. FAY, **1986**, Calcium transients and resting levels in isolated smooth muscle cells as monitored with quin-2. *Am. J. Physiol.* 250: C779-C791.

YOUSUFZAI, S., Y., TACHADO, S., D., CARTER, K., D., AND A. A. ABDEL-LATIF, 1989, Short-term desensitization of prostaglandin F2 alpha receptors increases cyclic AMP formation and reduces inositol phosphates accumulation and contraction in the bovine iris sphincter, *Curr. Eye Res.* 8(11): 1211-20.
56

Chapter II

Effects of Leukotriene D₄, Prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$, Platelet-Activating Factor, or Histamine on Isometric Tension in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle

Introduction

Leukotriene D₄ (LTD₄), prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2\alpha}), platelet activating factor (PAF) and histamine have been shown to cause airflow obstruction in humans and other species when administered by inhalation (Kern *et al.*, 1986; Denjean *et al.*, 1983; Malo *et al.*, 1982). These inflammatory mediators are found *in vivo* and their ability to cause isometric contractions in tracheal smooth muscle *in vitro* is not well understood.

Synthesis of Inflammatory Mediators

LTD₄ and PGF_{2 α} are lipid compounds synthesized from arachidonic acid by the lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase pathways, respectively (Sigal, 1991). LTD₄ is produced by mast cells, basophils, monocytes, eosinophils, and macrophages (Abraham and Wanner, 1988). PGF_{2 α} is produced by basophils, neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages, mast cells, and other cell types (Abraham and Wanner, 1988). Furthermore, Abraham and Wanner, (1988) also noted that both eosinophils and neutrophils were found in human bronchoalveolar lavage fluid during the late response of an antigen-induced asthmatic response. PAF is found in basophils, neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages, and possibly mast cells (Abraham and Wanner, 1988). PAF (1-0-alkyl-2-acetyl-*sn*-glyceryl-3phosphorylcholine compound (Demopoulos *et al.*, 1979) is formed by a two step process: 1) deacylating the 1-0-alkyl-2-acyl-glycerophosphocholine giving the inactive precursor Lyso-PAF and 2) acetylation of Lyso-PAF by acetyltransferase making the active PAF. Histamine a 2-(4-imidazolyl) ethylamine, is synthesized from histidine to histamine via L-histidine decarboxylase and is stored in granules within mast cells and basophils (Rang and Dale, 1989).

Contractile Responses Induced by LTD_4 , $PGF_{2\alpha}$, PAF and Histamine

LTD₄ has been shown to induce isometric contraction of human bronchial airway smooth muscle *in vitro* (Kohrogi, 1985). In the equine respiratory tract, LTD₄ stimulation only caused a contractile response in parenchyma strips at $\simeq 1$ μ M. Furthermore, the trachealis muscle strips showed no contractile response to either low (0.3 μ M) or high (450 μ M) concentrations (Doucet *et al.*, 1990). The above findings suggest that either peripheral airway smooth muscle has a different sensitivity to LTD₄ than does trachealis muscle, or that parenchyma tissue, because it is composed of a heterogeneous mixture of cells (one being vascular smooth muscle cells) could give inconclusive results regarding airway smooth muscle contractility.

 $PGF_{2\alpha}$ has been shown to cause a contractile response that is tachyphylactic in guinea-pig tracheal smooth muscle *in vitro* (Douglas and Brink, 1987). In addition, the $PGF_{2\alpha}$ -induced tachyphylaxis could be reversed by indomethacin, a known cyclooxygenase inhibitor. These findings have not been reported in bovine tracheal smooth muscle.

The contraction of canine tracheal smooth muscle strips by PAF were shown to be taonyphylactic and mediated by the platelets surrounding the smooth muscle, which must be present in the bathing medium (Popovich *et al.*, 1988). The finding was similarly reported in human bronchial strips (Schellenberg *et al.*, 1983) and in guinea-pig tracheal muscle preparations (Morley *et al.*, 1989). Popovich *et al.*, (1988) concluded that the PAF-induced contraction is mediated by 5-Hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) which is released from platelets in response to PAF stimulation and that the tachyphylaxis is due to a depletion of 5-HT from the platelets.

Histamine, when added to the bathing medium, has been shown to isometrically contract bovine (Kirkpatrick, 1975), guinea pig (Fukui et al., 1989) and canine (Katsuyama et al., 1990) tracheal smooth muscle. The proposed mechanism is through the membrane bound H1 receptor (Ash and Schild, 1966; Douglas, 1985) which causes (via the mobilization of calcium from intracellular stores) an increase in [Ca++]i which activates the contractile filaments (Takuwa et al., 1987; Kotlikoff et al., 1987). This elevation in [Cear]i has been associated with the myoplasmic elevation of the second messenger 'inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate' (IP3) (Barnes et al., 1986; Hall and Hill, 1988). The maintenance of force during a histamine-induced contraction has been linked to the PKC mechanism (Park and Rasmussen, 1985; Takuwa et al., 1987). Also, the influence of extracellular calcium on bovine tracheal smooth muscle contraction, caused by histamine, was demonstrated by extracellular calcium depletion and calcium channel blocker experiments (Kirkpatrick, 1975). Kirkpatrick, (1975) showed that the height and maintenance of tension were associated to extracellular calcium.

The roles of these inflammatory mediators in the pathogenesis of airway

constriction, though not fully defined, are likely important. As their actions on airway smooth muscle have yet been well understood, and I wished to explore the feasibility of looking at their mechanisms of action; I have decided to firstly determine if I could obtain reproducible isometric contractile responses with these compounds.

In this study using bov. e tracheal smooth muscle, my objectives were to determine: 1) if LTD₄ causes reproducible isometric contraction, 2) if PGF_{2a} will cause a dose-dependant reproducible response, 3) if PAF causes isometric contraction in the absence of platelet addition to the bathing medium, and 4) if histamine causes a) a dose-dependent response, b) tachyphylaxis, and c) a tension variation when the tissue strip is maintained in low extracellular calcium.

Materials and Methods

Prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$, leukotriene D₄, cyproheptadine hydrochloride were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO. USA). Platelet-activating factor (1-alkyl-2-acetyl-*sn*glyceryl-3-phosphorylcholine) was purchased from Avanti Polar Lipids Inc. (Alabaster, AL. USA). Krebs-Henseleit (KH) buffer for these experiments contained (in mM) 113 NaCl, 4.8 KCl, 1.2 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgSO₄, 25.0 NaHCO₃, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, and 5.5 glucose. Modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer (MKH) for these experiments contained (in mM) 113 NaCl, 4.8 KCl, 0.1 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgSO₄, 25.0 NaHCO₃, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, 5.5 glucose and 0.14 EGTA (Stockbridge, 1987).

Smooth Muscle Isolation

All tracheas were obtained fresh from a local abattoir. Ten centimetres of midcervical trachea was excised from 1-2 year old steers during exsanguination, and placed in KH solution at 4 °C during transportation to the laboratory (approximately 30 minutes). While submersed in KH solution the epithelial layer was removed and a piece of trachealis muscle approximately 1 mm wide x 2 mm thick x 10 mm long was tied at both ends using 5-0 surgical silk, and then excised from the connective tissue sheath. The wet weight of the muscle strips varied 'between 20 to 30 mg and were composed largely of smooth muscle cells (figure 2.1).



Figure # 2.1 Longitudinal cross section of bovine tracheal smooth muscle at Lo. (Section was stained with toluidine blue x 160)

Isometric Tension Measurements

Trachealis muscle strips were mounted in tissue baths as depicted in figure 2.2 The tissue strips were bathed in KH solution which was oxygenated with $95\% O_2 - 5\% CO_2$ (carbogen) with the bicarbonate buffer maintaining the pH at 7.4. The temperature was maintained at 37 °C.

To establish the active resting tension (Lo), which is the minimum tension that will generate the maximum response when stimulated electrically or via contractile agonist, for each individual muscle strip I used a standard procedure similar to that described by Gunst, (1989). This procedure consisted of electric field stimulation (A.C. source of 14-V, 60-Hz for 10secs) every 5 minutes, and adjusting the muscle length periodically to generate the maximum isometric tension (Po).



Figure # 2.2 Tissue, and Bath Assembly.

The equilibration process took approximately 90 minutes, after which the Lo was measured.

The experiments (8 in total) consisted of 4 to 6 isometric contractions either as cumulative or individual dose responses using one of the following compounds: LTD₄ (0.01, 0.1, 1 and 10 μ M), PAF (50 μ M), PGF_{2α} (0.01, 0.1, 0.5 1, 10, 50 and 100 μ M), acetylcholine (ACh) (5 μ M) or histamine (0.001, 0.01, 0.1, 1, 3.5, 10 and 100 μ M) as the contractile agents. Histamine-induced isometric tension was

evaluated for the possibility of tachyphylaxis and during exposure to low extracellular calcium (MKH solution ~ 100 nM (Stockbridge, 1987)). To examine the possibility of tachyphylaxis the tissue strips were contracted with 4 identical doses of histamine at ED50, where, between each dose the muscle strip was rinsed 2 times and the Lo reestablish. For low extracellular calcium experiments the tissue and tissue bath were first rinsed twice with MKH solution (~ 1 minute), and after 2 minutes the tissue was exposed to histamine (ED50) in the MKH solution.

The isometric tension-time curves generated by each muscle strip was recorded continuously for approximately 1.5 minutes prior to drug administration and for 12 minutes thereafter. For individual dose experiments, following the first dose, the tissue strip was rinsed twice in KH solution and Lo reestablished before the next dose of the compound was tested.

Muscle tension was recorded on a chart recorder (GOULD 2600 S) and digitized and stored on an IBM computer. The tension was initially recorded as g/sec and then converted to mN/mm²/sec incorporating the cross sectional area (CSA) of the tissue strip. Studies were acetylcholine (ACh) or two inflammatory mediators were administered, the histamine or acetylcholine peak response was considered 100%, and the responses caused by other compounds were expressed as a percentage of the peak response. At the completion of the studies, each muscle strip was rinsed and removed from the apparatus. The muscle strips were then weighed and the CSA was calculated: CSA (mm²) = [density (mg/mm³) x tissue strip wet weight (mg)] / length at Lo (mm) (Jiang *et al.*, 1991) where the density of the muscle strip was assumed to be 1 mg/mm³ (Stephens *et al.*, 1984)

Statistical Analysis

Data is presented as meas \pm SEM. Comparisons between groups of pharmacological interventions were by one-way ANOVA (P ≤ 0.05), followed by the Newman-Keuls multiple-comparison test (0.05 critical value).

Results

Effect of LTD₄ on Isometric Tension

Figure 2.3, shows typical isometric tension-time curves caused by LTD₄ stimulation. The isometric tension developed was transient with the tension decreasing to below baseline values after peak tension was obtained (n=2). In figure 2.4, the peak tensions induced by cumulative doses of LTD₄ (0.01, 0.1, 1 and 10 μ M) on 4 tissue strips was significantly lower than that produced by stimulation with ACh (5 μ M) (P \leq 0.05). At 0.1 μ M, LTD₄ induced the largest contraction. In figure 2.5 the addition of ACh (5 μ M) did not cause an increase in isometric tension when added in the presence of LTD₄. However, in the same tissue, after rinsing with KH solution, the same dose of ACh (5 μ M) caused a brisk contraction, the magnitude of which was not diminished.



Figure #2.3 Effect of LTD₄ on Isometric Tension in Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

 LTD_4 (0.1µM) added at the 1.5 minute mark caused transient isometric tension curves in two (\star , \diamond) individual trachealis muscle strips.



Figure # 2.4 Tension Responses to LTD4 on Tracheal Smooth Mus

Cumulative effects of LTD_4 and ACh on peak tension in the same 4 n There is evidence of tachyphylaxis. Also, the peak contraction produc is much lower than that by ACh. Before ACh stimulation LTD_4 was with two rinses of KH solution. * indicates significance from 0.1 LTI ACh to 0.01, 1, and 10 μ M LTD₄., † indicates significance from 0.1 μ μ M ACh (by Newman-Keuls multiple comparison test, critical value o 1......

)4

ylcholine



60

Muscle.

e 4 muscle strips. roduced by LTD_4 4 was washed off 1 LTD_4 and 5 μ M 0.1 μ M LTD_4 to 5 due of 0.05).





Figure #2.5 Effect of ACh and LTD₄ on Isometric Tension in Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

When ACh ($5 \mu M$) was added 9 minutes after LTD₄ (0.1 μM) (Θ symbol), which was used to cause a contraction, it produced no contractile response. Using the same tissue (\bullet symbol) after 2 rinses with KH solution, the contractile response to ACh was restored.

Effect of PAF on Isometric Tension

Figure 2.6 is a typical isometric tension-time curve caused by PAF (50 μ M) stimulation without the addition of platelets to the bathing medium. The tension increased to a peak and was not sustained. In figure 2.7, the first dose of PAF (50 μ M) induced a peak tension that was not significantly different from the histamine (3.5 μ M)-induced contractions, but the second identical dose of PAF was significantly lower than the first peak response and the two peak responses to histamine (n=6) (P \leq 0.05).



Figure #2.6 Effect of PAF on Isometric Tension in Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

PAF (50 μ M) added at the 1 minute mark induced an isometric tension curve. $-\Theta$ -symbol is one trachealis muscle strip. (no platelets added to the bathing medium)



Figure # 2.7 Effect of PAF and Histamine Stimulation on Tracheal Smooth Muscle.

The effect of 50 μ M PAF and 3.5 μ M histamine on the peak tension was studied in 6 muscle strips (two rinses in KH solution between stimulations). * indicates significance from both 3.5 μ M histamine stimulation and the first stimulation of 50 μ M PAF (by Newman-Keuls multiple comparison test, critical value of 0.05). Note, platelets were not added to the backing medium.

Effect of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ on Isometric Tension

Figure 2.8 is typical isometric tension-time curves caused by $PGF_{2\alpha} (10 \mu M)$ stimulation. The tensions were maintained and peak responses were variable. Figure 2.9 shows the peak tensions induced by cumulative dose of $PGF_{2\alpha} (0.01, 0.1, -10)$ and $100 \mu M$). Both 10 μM and 100 μM of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ caused significantly larger peak tensions compared to the tensions obtained and $PGF_{2\alpha}$ at lower doses (0.01, 0.1 and 1 μM) (P < 0.05). In figure 2.10, $PGF_{2\alpha} = 0.01$ induced peak tensions were not significantly different from each other, and were not significantly lower than those induced by histamine (3.5 μM) (n=6).





PGF2 α (10 μ M) added at the 30 second mark induced isometric tension curves. (\times

, \diamondsuit) symbols represent individual tensions in two trachealis muscle strips.



Figure # 2.9 Dose-Responses of Peak Tensions to Increasing Doses of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ on Tracheal Smooth Muscle.

The effect of increasing concentrations (cumulative addition) of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ on the peak tensions in 4 muscle strips. * indicates significant differences from 0.01, 0.1, and 1 μ M to 10 and 100 μ M PGF_{2 α} (by Newman-Keuls multiple comparison test, critical value of 0.05).



Figure # 2.10 Effect of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ and Histamine Stimulation on Tracheal Smooth Muscle.

The effect of 50 μ M PGF_{2a} and 3.5 μ M histamine on the peak tension was studied in 6 muscle strips (two rinses of KH solution between stimulations).

Effect of Histamine on Isometric Tension

Figure 2.11 shows a typical tension-time curve response of one muscle strip to histamine (3.5 μ M). The tension increased to a peak within 5 minutes of exposure and the tension was sustained. Figure 2.12 shows a dose-response to increasing doses of histamine from (0.001 to 100 μ M). The ED50 was estimated from the graph to be approximately 3.5 ± 0.8 μ M.

Effect of Repeated Exposures to Histamine

In figure 2.13 a repeated dose of histamine $(3.5 \mu M)$ on two muscle strips showed no indication of tachyphylaxis.

Effect of Low Calcium on Histamine-Induced Isometric Contraction

Figure 2.14 shows the role of extracellular calcium on the isometric tensiontime curve generated by 3.5 μ M histamine. When the tissue was bathed in KH solution and contracted with histamine a peak tension and plateau were obtained. However, the tissue when exposed to 3.5 μ M histami e in MKH solution for 2 minutes, the tension-time curve showed a decrease the, a lower peak tension, and no sustained tension.



Figure #2.11 Effect of Histamine on Isometric Tension in Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

Histamine (3.5 μ M)-induced isometric tension curves from two trachealis muscle strips (tissue 1 \oplus , tissue 2 \oplus).





The effect of increasing concentrations (cumulative addition) of histamine on the average peak tensions as a percent of maximum (\boxdot) in 4 muscle strips.





Histamine 3.5 μ M was administered at 4 different times to the same two tissue strips. Prior to histamine exposure the muscle strips were rinsed twice in KH solution. Peak tensions are average of the two strips.

80





Exposure to 100 nM free calcium KH solution. Histamine 3.5 μ M was administered 2 minutes after low calcium exposure (-). The upper tracing is the same piece of tissue previously contracted with 3.5 μ M histamine in normal KH solution.

Discussion

In the current study on bovine tracheal smooth muscle, I have demonstrated that 1) LTD₄ caused variable isometric contractions and indicated tachyphylaxis. Furthermore, when a tissue has undergone a LTD₄-induced contraction, it could not develop a tension response to ACh, and the response to ACh in the muscle strip was restored when the tissue was rinsed. 2) PAF caused variable isometric contractions without the addition of platelets and indicated tachyphylaxis, 3) $PGF_{2\alpha}$ caused variable isometric contractions and sustained the tension unlike LTD₄ and PAF. 4) Histamine showed a dose-dependant response with no tachyphylaxis, and its contractile properties were largely dependant on the extracellular calcium concentration.

The L1D₄ contractile responses in bovine tracheal smooth muscle suggest that the receptor location is not solely in the parenchymal tissue, and that the parenchymal tissue is not necessary to cause an LTD₄-induced contraction. These results were supported by the work from Mong *et al.*, (1988), which showed that there were [3H] LTD₄ binding stereoselectivity on sheep tracheal smooth muscle cells and that these cells would undergo transient increases in $|Ca^{++}|_i$ when stimulated with LTD₄. These results and the results reported by Doucet *et al.*, (1990) suggest that there could be some species variation in the LTD₄ receptor location.

One other observation regarding the LTD₄ contractile response was the

decrease in tension below baseline values after the LTD₄-induced peak response. Also, the LTD₄-induced contraction showed no change in tension when acetylcholine (ACh) was administered after peak tension via LTD₄, but once the tiss was rinsed with Krebs-Henseleit (KH) solution, the same dose of ACh caused a brisk and manutained tension. Because this has not been reported the mechanism in which the inhibition or the LTD₄-induced relaxation operates could be caused by either 1) the formation of a relaxant factor(s) such as prostaglandin E_2 (Madison *et al.*, 1989) or vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (Said, 1988) or an increase in intracellular cyclic AMP concentration, 2) a decrease in calcium sensitivity of the contractile elements (Karaki, 1989) or 3) some unknown mechanisms.

PAF (50 μ M) caused a transient increase in isometric tension without the addition of platelets to the bathing medium. After rinsing, the second repeated dose, caused a reduced isometric contraction, which indicates tachyphylaxis. The results obtained using PAF on bovine tracheal smooth muscle suggests that either there were PAF specific receptors on tracheal smooth muscle cell membranes, or that there were some platelets in the tissue, remaining after rinsing, which become activated (release of 5-HT) when PAF was administered. It should be noted that the concentration needed to induce any noticeable contraction by PAF was considerably higher than the concentrations used by Popovich *et al.*, (1988). This could be due to species variation (canine vs. bovine) or could be a function of possibly the small number of platelets in the tissue. To help identify the role of 5-HT in PAF-induced tracheal muscle contraction, it would require a specific 5-HT

antagonist for this tissue. This antagonist to date is not available; therefore, the function of 5-HT in PAF-induced contraction could not be properly investigated.

The isometric tension-time curve elicited by $PGF_{2\alpha}$ showed a sustained tension that was not dose-dependant and it caused variable peak tensions. The single dose response (50 showed similar peak responses and suggests that $PGF_{2\alpha}$ is not tachyphylactic and therefore its application does not induce the production of PGE_2 (Douglas and Brink, 1987). The differences shown by my preparation and Douglas and Brink, (1987) may be due to species variations (bovine vs. guinea pig), or to other unknown mechanisms.

Histamine caused a dose-dependant response, were the ED50 was approximated at $3.5 \pm 0.8 \mu$ M. The histamine-induced contractions showed a sustained tension and did not indicate tachyphylaxis. The response of histamineinduced contraction in low extracellular calcium medium showed a response similarly to Kirkpatrick, (1978) which had a decreased peak response and therefore agrees with the hypothesis that extracellular calcium concentration plays an important role in histamine-induced isometric contraction in bovine tracheal smooth muscle.

In summary, I found using bovine tracheal smooth muscle an increase in isometric tension when it was stimulated by LTD_4 , PAF (without the addition of platelets to the bathing medium), $PGF_{2\alpha}$ (which showed a maintained tension unlike LTD_4 and PAF) and histamine (which caused a dose-dependant response and no signs of tachyphylaxis.) In the doses used, LTD_4 , PAF and PGF_{2\alpha} the muscle produced a smaller tension than that achievable with histamine or

acetylcholine.

References

ABRAHAM, W., M., AND A. WANNER, **1988**, Inflammatory Mediators of Asthma, *Pediatric Pulmonology* 4: 237-247.

DENJEAN, A., ARNOUX, B., MASS), A., LOCKHART, A., BENVENISTE, J., 1983, Acute effects of intratracheal administration of platelet-activating factor in baboons, J. Appl. Physiol., 55: 799-804.

DEMOPOULOS, C., A., PINCKARD, R., N., AND D. J. HANAHAN, **1979**, Plateletactivating factor. Evidence for 1-O-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glyceryl-3phosphorylcholine as the active component (a new class of lipid chemical mediators). J. Biol. Chem., 254: 9355-9358.

DOUGLAS, J., S., AND C. BRINK, 1987, Histamine and Prostanoids 2. Mediators, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 136: S21-S37.

DOUCET, M., Y., JONES, T., R., AND A. W. FORD-HUTCHINSON, **1989**, Responses of equine trachealis and lung parenchyma to methacholine, histamine, seratonin, prostanoids, and leukotrienes in vitro, *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 68: 379-383. JIANG, H., HALAYKO, A.J., RAO, K., CUNNINGHAM, P., AND N. L. STEPHENS, 1991, Normalization of force generated by canine airway smooth muscles. *Am. J. Physiol.* 260 (lung Cell Mol Physiol 4): L525-L529.

KARAKI, H., 1989, Ca²⁺ localization and sensitivity in vascular smooth muscle. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, Vol.10: 320-325.

KERN, R., SMITH, L., J., PATTERSON, R., KRELL, R., D., AND P. R. BERSTEIN, 1986, Characterization of the airway response to inhaled leukotriene D4 in normal subjects, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, 133: 1127-1132.

KOHROGI, H., HONDA, I., ANDO, M., MATSUURA, T., KAWANO, O., FUKUDA K. AND S. ARAKI, 1985, Effects of Calcium Antagonists and Beta Stimulants on Isolated Human Bronchial Contraction Induced by Leukotriene D4 and Potassium. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 131: (4), suppl., A2.

MADISON J., M., JONES, C., A., SANKARY, R., M., AND J. K. BROWN, **1989**, Differential effects of prostaglandin E2 on contractions of airway smooth muscle, J. Appl. Physiol. 66 (3): 1397-1407.

MALO, P., E., WASSERMAN, M., A., AND R. L. GRIFFIN, 1982, Effects of intravenous and areosol nifedapine on prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ and histamine-induced bronchoconstriction in anesthetized dogs. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 221: 410-415.

MONG, S., MILLER, J., WU, H-L., AND S. T. CROOKE, **1988**, Leukotriene D4 receptor-mediated hydrolysis os phosphoinositide and mobilization ⁻ ⁻ calcium in sheep tracheal smooth muscle cells. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 244 (2): 508-515

MORLEY, J., SMITH, D. AND I. CHAPMAN, 1989, Platelet Activating Factor and airway smooth muscle, *Pharmac. Ther.*, 40: 373-382.

POPOVICH, K., J., SHELDON, G., MACK, M., MUNOZ, N., M., DENBERG, P., BLAKE, J., WHITE, S. R., AND A. R. LEFF, **1988**, Role of platelets in contraction of canine tracheal muscle elicited by PAF in vitro, *J. Appl. Physiol.* 65(2): 914-920.

SCHELLENBERG, R., WALKER, B. AND F. SNYDER, **1983**, Platelet dependant contraction of human bronchi by platelet activating factor. J. Allergy Clin. *Immun.* 71: 145.

SAID, S., 1988, Vasoactive intestinal peptide in the lung, Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 527: 450-464.

SIGAL, E., 1991, The molecular biology of mammalian arachidonic acid metabolism, Am. J. Physiol. 260 (Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 4): L13-L28.

STEPHENS, N. L., KROEGER, E., A., AND S. K. KONG, **1984**, Techniques for the study of airway smooth muscle. In *Techniques in the life sciences*, Vol. P4/11. Techniques in respiratory physiology-Part II, Edited by A. N. Otis. Country Clare, Ireland: Elsevier, p. 418/1-418/27.

STOCKBRIDGE, N., 1987, EGTA, Comput. Biol. Med. Vol.17, No. 5, pp. 299-304.

Chapter III

Fluo-3 as an Indicator for Simultaneous Measurement of [Ca++]i and Isometric Tension in Histamine Stimulated Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle 90
Introduction

Measurements of intracellular calcium concentration $(|Ca^{++}|_i)$ have advanced our understanding of how calcium modulates the excitation-contraction coupling / uncoupling mechanism in airway smooth muscle (Taylor and Stull, 1988; Lofdahl and Barnes, 1986; Panettieri *et al.*, 1989). Recently bioluminescent and fluorescent techniques became available for the simultaneous measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension in airway smooth muscle (Tukawa *et al.*, 1987; Gunst, 1989; Ozaki *et al.*, 1990). Their findings have shown that the role of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in the excitation-contraction coupling and uncoupling mechanism in airway smooth muscle is multidimensional, and worthy of further investigation.

Fluo-3 as an $[Ca++]_i$ Indicator

To measure $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in bovine tracheal smooth muscle contraction induced by histamine a relatively new fluorescent indicator fluo-3 (Minta *et al.*, 1989) was used. Fluo-3 has been used to monitor $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in fibrcblasts, T-lymphocytes (Kao *et al.*, 1989), platelets and neutrophils (Merritt *et al.* 1990), and in colonic smooth muscle (Gerthoffer *et al.*, 1991) but it has not been used in airway smooth muscle tissue preparations.

There are three main advantages of using fluo-3 to measure $[Ca^{++}]_i$: 1) the excitation wavelength of fluo-3 is outside the UV range; therefore, NADH will not offset the measurement as it would with the fluorescent dye fura II (Ozaki *et al.*, 1987; Sato *et al.*, 1988). Also, fluo-3 should not cause cellular damage, which is

associated with UV exposure (Minta *et al.*, 1989; Williams and Fay, 1986). 2) fluo-3 allows for a broad range of $[Ca^{++}]_1$ measurement, from ≈ 35 nM to 10 μ M (Minta *et al.*, 1989; Kao *et al.*, 1989), which is an advantage in the present study, 3) fluo-3 has a high Kd (dissociation constant) which is important in achieving optimal measurement of the fluorescent maximum in tissue work.

Histamine as a Contractile Agonist

Histamine has been shown to cause airway smooth muscle excitation/contraction coupling *in vitro* (Kirkpatrick, 1975; Katsuyama *et al.*, 1990) via its action on the H₁ receptor, (Ash and Schild, 1966; Chand and Eyre, 1975) which has been shown to cause an increase in the concentration of the second messenger, inositol 1,4,5 trisphosphate (IP₃) (Barnes *et al.*, 1986; Hall and Hill, 1988). IP₃ then causes an increase in [Ca++]_i resulting in muscle contraction. It is postulated that this IP₃-initiated increase in [Ca++]_i originates from myoplasmic stores (sarcoplasmic reticulum) (Takuwa *et al.*, 1987; Kotlikoff *et al.*, 1987). Also, the influence of extracellular calcium on bovine tracheal smooth muscle contraction, caused by histamine, was demonstrated by extracellular calcium depletion and calcium channel blocker experiments (Kirkpatrick, 1975). Kirkpatrick, 1975 showed that the height and maintenance of tension were associated to extracellular calcium.

In this study, using bovine tracheal smooth muscle, my aims were: 1) to determine if fluo-3 (in the AM ester form) has any inherent effects on histamineinduced contraction, 2) to determine if fluo-3 is suitable in detecting changes in ++]_i caused by histamine-induced contraction, and 3) to monitor the unuous simultaneous measurements of [Ca++]_i and isometric tension.

C

Materials and Methods

Fluo-3 acetoxymethyl ester (AM) and fluo-3 pentaammonium salt were purchased from Molecular Probes Inc. (Eugene, OR., USA); pluronic F-127 was supplied by Molecular Probes. Histamine phosphate and MnCl₂ were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO., USA). Ionomycin was purchased from Terochem Laboratories (Edmonton, AB. CANADA). Krebs-Henseleit buffer (KH) for these experiments contained (in mM) 113 NaCl, 4.8 KCl, 1.2 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgSO₄, 25.0 NaHCO₃, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, and 5.5 glucose.

Smooth Muscle Isolation

This method was identical to that described in chapter II.

Simultaneous Measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and Isometric Tension.

A muscle st ip 1 mm wide x 1 mm thick x 10 mm long, wet weight $\simeq 7$ to 10 mg, was mounted on an attachment unit (CT-01; Jasco INC. Maryland, USA), with one end free for later attachment to an adjustable length force transducer (FT-03; Grass Instrument, Quincy, MA, USA). The attachment unit was then placed in a cuvette and installed in the calcium ion analyzer (CAF-100; Jasco INC. Maryland, USA) (see figure 3.1).



Figure # 3.1 CAF-100 Calcium Ion Analyzer with Tension Transducer.

A 75 watt xenon light source was aligned through a rotating excitation filter of 490 nm. The light source aperture was set at 15 mm and the light passed through the cuvette which housed the tissue strip. The muscle strip was centred in the light beam which had a diameter of 4 mm. The fluorescence emitted from the tissue strip was passed through a selective emission filter of 530 nm and detected by the photomultiplier tube. Both tension and fluorescent intensity were monitored on a chart recorder (Gould 3400 RS) and also stored on an IBM computer.

The tissue strip was bathed in 2.5 mls of KH solution and oxygenated with 95% O_2 - 5% CO_2 (carbogen) and kept at pH 7.4. The temperature was maintained at 37 °C. Smooth muscle equilibration was performed identically to the procedure in chapter II. After a stable Lo was established isometric contraction and autofluorescence during histamine (3.5 μ M) stimulation was measured. The muscle strip was then rinsed three or four times with KH solution to reestablish the Lo. To load the dye, 15 μ M fluo-3 AM in 0.10 % (w/v) pluronic F-127 (a dispersing agent) was added to the KH solution which was kept at room temperature for approximately 3 hours. After this, the dye solution was removed by rinsing the cuvette thoroughly 4 times with KH solution. The cuvette temperature was then raised to 37 °C and 20 minutes later the tissue was stimulated with histamine (3.5 μ M). Fluorescent intensity (F) and isometric tension were simultaneously recorded. The apparatus (FT-03 and CAF-100) delay times for both measurements were determined and found to be negligible for F, and ± 2 seconds for isometric tension. Recordings began 1 minute before histamine was added and lasted for 11 minutes thereafter

Calibration of fluo-3 fluorescence was done on each individual muscle strip at the end of the study using techniques similar to those of Kao *et al.*, (1989) and Merritt *et al.*, (1990). The maximum fluorescence (Fmax) was obtained by adding ionomycin to the cuvette in increasing concentrations (Fmax(i)), and adding the change in F caused by fluorescent decay from baseline to the time at Fmax (X) (see figure 3.7). In 3 experiments further addition of digitonin (90 μ M), which has been shown to increase the F to a value higher then Fmax(i) did not raise the Fmax(i) (Merritt *et al.*, 1990). The Fmax(i) stabilized within 10 to 15 minutes after the addition of ionomycin. The fluorescent minima (Fmin) was assumed to be the autofluorescence of the tissue (Merritt *et al.*, 1990) and was verified using EGTA (4 mM).

The formula used to calculate the $[Ca^{++}]_i$ was: $[Ca^{++}]_i = Kd$ (F-Fmin/Fmax-F) (Grynkiewicz *et al.* 1985). The dissociation constant (Kd) of Fluo-3 at 37 °C was calculated to be 593 nM, using methods previously described by Grynkiewicz *et al.*, (1985) and using the ratio of change from 22 °C to 37 °C for fluo-3 (Merritt *et al.*, 1990). After completion of Fmax(i), each muscle strip was washed and removed from the apparatus. The cross sectional area (CSA) was then measured.

Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Comparisons of isometric force, with and without fluo-3, in the same tissue were made using the paired t test. Comparisons of baseline and peak [Ca⁺⁺]_i values during histamine-induced contractions (in the same tissue) were also by paired t test. Significance was defined as P \leq 0.05.

Results

Fluo-3 Properties

The dissociation constant (Kd) of fluo-3 at 22 °C was found to be 275 nM, using a method similar to Grynkiewicz *et al.*, (1985). The study was done at 37 °C, and the Kd, using the ratio of change from 22 °C to 37 °C for fluo-3 (Merritt *et al.*, 1990) was calculated to be 593 nM. The pharmacologic agents used in this study did not cause fluorescence at the excitation wavelength (490 nm) nor did they cause any significant autofluorescence in the trachealis muscle.

Fluo-3 Effect on Histamine-Induced Isometric Tension

The mean of the peak histamine $(3.5 \ \mu\text{M})$ -induced isometric tension in five muscle strips, before (control) and after fluo-3 AM loading, were not significantly different (figure 3.2). Figure 3.3 shows the mean of the initial (from approximately 20 seconds to 2 minutes) isometric tension-time curves for the same five muscle strips from figure 3.2. Both control and dye-loaded muscle strips were not significantly different.





The peak isometric tension in 5 pieces trachealis muscle contracted with 3.5 μ M histamine before (control) and after fluo-3 loading. Values are in mean \pm S.E.M.



Figure # 3.3 Effect of Histamine on Control and Fluo-3 loaded Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

The isometric tension-time curve from 20 seconds to 2 minutes, of the mean tensions of the same 5 trachealis muscle strips from figure 3.2 (same data). Values are in mean \pm S.E.M.

100

[Ca++]_i Changes Caused by Histamine

Histamine (3.5 μ M), added 1 minute after baseline values, caused a significant increase in peak [Ca++]_i for five muscle strips (figure 3.4), P < 0.05.

[Ca++]_i and Isometric Tension in Histamine Induced Contraction

Figure 3.5 shows the simultaneous measurements of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in nM and isometric tension in mN/mm² in 5 muscle strips. The baseline $[Ca^{++}]_i$ level declined at a slow rate after fluo-3 was removed from the tissue bath by rinsing thoroughly with KH solution. Following this, addition of histamine (3.5 μ M) caused a rapid increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ to a peak value which was followed by a slow decline, the rate of which was similar to that seen in the pre-contracted period. Isometric tension was stable before histamine stimulation, but then showed a slow increase after histamine to a plateau that was maintained. Figure 3.6 is the same data as shown in figure 3.5, but the tension and $[Ca^{++}]_i$ values are expressed as a percentage of their maximum values. This better illustrates the time lag of tension increase compared to the increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$. It shows (figure 3.6) that the $[Ca^{++}]_i$ increased approximately 8 ± 2 seconds prior to the increase in isometric tension.



Figure #3.4 Effect of Histamine on Intracellular Calcium in Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

Baseline intracellular calcium level at Lo, and following histamine (3.5 μ M) stimulation in 5 trachealis muscle strips. * indicates significance at p \leq 0.05.



Figure #3.5 Simultaneous Intracellular Calcium and Isometric Tension in Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

Effect of 3.5 μ M histamine on [Ca++]i and isometric tension in 5 trachealis muscle strips (------ is the slope of fluorescent decay). Values are in mean \pm S.E.M.

103



Figure #3.6 Simultaneous [Ca++]_i and Isometric Tension Time 0 to 120 seconds in Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

Effect of 3.5 μ M histamine on [Ca++]i and isometric tension in 5 trachealis muscle strips, point A is the initial increase of [Ca++]i, point B is the initial increase in isometric tension. Same data points from figure 3.5.

Calibration of Fluo-3 Fluorescence

With the tissue strip in histamine-induced contraction, Fmax was calculated after adding 60 μ M ionomycin (figure 3.7). Ionomycin, which is a calcium ionophore, caused a rapid increase in F to a maintained plateau (Fmax(i)). Administration of 5 mM MnCl₂, to quench the fluo-3, caused a rapid decline in F to just above the autofluorescence of the tissue strip. The actual Fmin was not obtained, because MnCl₂ does not quench the dye completely (Kao *et al.*, 1989), therefore the autofluorescent value of the tissue strip was used as the fluorescent minima (Fmin) (Merritt *et al.*, 1990). In several muscle strips, addition of 90 μ M digitonin did not further increase the fluorescent maximum when added after 60 μ M ionomycin, as previously reported by Merritt *et al.*, (1990). Evidentially, Fmax(i) could be obtained with ionomycin alone.



Figure #3.7 Calibration Curve for Fluo-3 loaded Trachealis Muscle Effect of 60 μ M ionomycin and 5 mM MnCl₂ on fluorescent intensity, ______ is the slope of fluorescent decay and ______ is the baseline intensity; X is the change from baseline fluorescence to fluorescent decay at time Fmax(i).

Discussion

In this study I found that fluo-3 did not significantly alter histamine-induced isometric tension, and that fluo-3 is a useful indicator for measuring $[Ca++]_i$ in bovine tracheal smooth muscle tissue. Furthermore, my experimental set-up permitted simultaneous measurements of $[Ca++]_i$ and isometric tension. The present study showed that histamine caused a sustained increase in $[Ca++]_i$ while maintaining an increased isometric tension.

The optimal concentration of fluo-3 AM in these tracheal smooth muscle tissue studies was 15 μ M, and the optimal incubation period was 3 hours. With 3 hours of incubation with 5 to 10 μ M concentrations of fluo-3 AM there were insignificant changes in fluorescent intensity with ionomycin (60 μ M).

Baseline $[Ca^{++}]_i$ values were approximately 50 % higher than those reported by Gunst and Brandyopadhyay, (1989), but they used canine tissue and acquorin bioluminesense. The variation therefore could be attributed to species differences (bovine vs. canine) or to the technique for measuring $[Ca^{++}]_i$. It is also possible that high $[Ca^{++}]_i$ is observed in my studies from fluorescence other than the myoplasm F. The AM ester of fluo-3 enters the myoplasm by simple diffusion and the esterase in the cytosol hydrolyses the AM derivative to form the polycarboxylated anion (calcium sensitive salt) (Tsien, 1988). This process is straight forward in cultured cells but in the case of a tissue strip, damaged cells on the surface might cause a higher measured $[Ca^{++}]_i$ due to 1) free esterase being present on the cell surface resulting in excessive calcium/fluo-3 complex, and /or, 2) the damaged cells allow a abnormally high amount of calcium into the myoplasm. Our measurement was an average of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ within the tissue strip. The F could be theoretically increased with an increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$, or with an increase in muscle cell volume in the light path. Against the change in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ being entirely due to the latter, I found that when exposed to ionomycin, $[Ca^{++}]_i$ increased more rapidly and to its maximum several minutes before maximum tension was achieved (data not shown).

Approximately 65 % of all experiments were accepted. To be accepted the tissue strip had to: 1) show a stable Lo before and after dye loading, 2) respond to histamine by generating an isometric contraction, and 3) have an Fmax(i) value higher than the F value during a contraction.

The sustained increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ during histamine-induced isometric contraction could result from a steady release of stored calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, and/or from extracellular calcium entry via voltage operated calcium channels. During the initial histamine-induced tension increase the release of myoplasmic stored calcium is caused by increased IP3 accumulation (Barnes *et al.*, 1986; Kotlikoff *et al.*, 1987). The sustained histamine contraction causes a depolarization of the membrane (Kirkpatrick, 1975) thus, activating voltage operated calcium channels (Rodger, 1988). The combination of the two calcium pools could therefore maintain the elevated intracellular calcium level. This two calcium pool hypothesis is substantiated by the tension studies of Kirkpatrick, (1975) and Fukui *et al.*, (1989) where extracellular calcium depletion experiments along with my isometric tension-low extracellular calcium study (chapter 2 fig 2.14) showed that removal of extracellular calcium concentration reduces the peak tension as well as removing the plateau. Even with the high concentration of fluo-3 AM used in this study, the calcium buffering capacity of fluo-3 had very little effect on the rate of rise of isometric contraction or the maximum contraction to histamine. These results are best appreciated in figures 3.2 and 3.3 where the smooth muscle rate of tension increase and maximum tensions between control and fluo-3 loaded tissue were not significantly different.

In summary, fluo-3 did not affect histamine-induced peak isometric tension in bovine tracheal smooth muscle, and it was useful in measuring changes in $[Ca^{++}]_i$. These results demonstrate that simultanecus measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension in bovine tracheal smooth muscle can be achieved using fluo-3AM.

109

Refei nces

ASH, A. S. F., AND H. O. SCHILD, **1966**, Receptors mediating some actions of histamine, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 27: 427-439.

BARNES, P. J., CUSS, F., M., AND B. M. GRANDORY 1986, Spasmogens and phosphatidylinositol breakdown in bovine trachealis smooth muscle, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*,87: 65p.

CHAND, N., AND P. EYRE, 1975, Classification and biological distribution of histamine receptor sub-types, Agents Actions, 5: 277-295.

FUKUI, H., HAYASHI, A., FUKUDA, H., TAKEMURA, M., YAMATODANI, A., AND H. WADA, **1989**, Dependency of Histamine Induced Phasic and Tonic contractions on Intracellular and Extracellular Calcium in Guinea Pig Tracheal Smooth Muscle, *Japan, J. Pharmacol.* 50: 125-130.

GERTHOFFER, W., T., MURPHY, K., A., MANINI, J., BOMAN, S., AND F. A. LATTANZIO Jr., **1991**, Myosin phosphorylation and calcium in tonic and phasic contractions of colonic smooth muscle, *Am. J. Physiol.* 260 (6 Pt 1): G958-64.

GRYNKIEWICZ, G., POENIE M., AND R. Y. TSIEN, 1985, A new generation of Ca2+ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties, J. Biol. Chem. 260: 3440-3450.

GUNST, S., J., AND S. BANDYOPADHYAY, 1989, Contractile force and intracellular Ca2+ during relaxation of canine tracheal smooth muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 257(26): C355-C364.

GUNST, S., J., 1989, Effects of muscle length and load on intracellular Ca2+ in tracheal smooth muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 256(25): C807-C812.

HALL, I., P., AND S. J. HILL, **1988**, β 2-adrenoceptor stimulation inhibits histaminestimulated inositol phospholipid hydrolysis in bovine tracheal smooth muscle. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 95: 1204-1212.

KAO, J., P., Y., HAROOTUNIAN, A., T., AND R. Y. TSIEN., **1989**, Photochemically Generated Cytosolic Calcium Pulses and Their Detection by Fluo-3, *J. Biol. Chem.* 264: 8171-8178.

KATSUYAMA, H., SUZUKI, S., AND E. NISHIYE, 1990, Actions of second messengers synthesized by various spasmogenic agents and their relation to mechanical responses in dog tracheal smooth muscle, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 100: 41-48.

KIRKPATRICK, C., T., 1975, Excitation and contraction in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle. J. Physiol., 244: 263-281. KOTLIKOFF, M., I., MURRAY, R. K., AND E. E. REYNOLDS, 1987, Histamine-induced calcium release and phorbol antagonism in cultured airway smooth muscle cells. Am. J. Physiol., 253: C561-C566.

LOFDAHL, C., G., AND P. J. BARNES, 1986, Calcium channel blockade and airways function. Acta. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 58 (suppl.2): 91-111.

MERRITT, J., E., McCARTHY, S., A., DAVIES, P., A., MOORES, K., E., **1990**, Use of fluo-3 to measure cytosolic Ca2+ in platelets and neutrophils, *Biochem. J.* 269: 513-519.

MINTA, A., KAO, J., P., Y., AND R. Y. TSIEN, **1989**, Fluorescent indicators for cytosolic calcium based on rhodamine and fluorescein chromophores. *J. Bio. Chem.* 264(14): 8171-8178. 1989.

OZAKI, H., SATO, K., SATOH, T., AND H. KARAKI, **1987**, Simultaneous recordings of calcium signals and mechanical activity using fluorescent dye fura-2 in isolated strips of vascular smooth muscle. *Japan. J. Pharmacol.* 45: 429-433.

OZAKI, H., KWON, S.-C., TAJIMI, M., AND H. KARAKI, **1990**, Changes in cytosolic Ca2+ and contraction induced by various stimulants and relaxants in canine tracheal smooth muscle. *Pflugers Arch* **4**16: 351-359.

PANETTIERI, R., A., MURRAY, R., A., DEPALO, L., R., YADVISH, P., A., AND M. I. KOTLIKOFF, **1989**, A human airway smooth muscle cell line that retains physiological responsiveness. *Am. J. Physiol.* 256: C329-C335.

RODGER, I., W., 1987, Airway smooth muscle and disease workshop, Calcium Channels, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis., Oct 136 (4 pt 2): S15-S17.

SATO, K., OZAKI, H., AND H. KARAKI, **1988**, Changes in cytosolic calcium level in vascular smooth muscle strip measured simultaneously with contraction using fluorescent calcium indicator fura-2. *J. Pharmcol. Exp. Ther.* 246: 294-300.

TAKUWA, Y., TAKUWA, N., AND H. RASMUSSEN, **1987**, Measurement of cytoplasmic free Ca2+ concentration in bovine tracheal smooth muscle using aequorin, *Am. J. Physiol.*, 253: C817-C827.

TAYLOR, D., A., AND J. T. STULL, **1988**, Calcium dependence of myosin light chain phosphorylation in smooth muscle cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263: 14456-14462.

TSIEN, R. Y., **1988**, Fluorescent measurement and photochemical manipulation of cytosolic free calcium, *Trends Neurosci.*, Oct. 11(10): 419-424.

WILLIAMS, D., A., AND F. S. FAY, **1986**, Calcium transients and resting levels in isolated smooth muscle cells as monitored with quin-2. *Am. J. Physiol.* 250: C779-C791.

114

Chapter IV

Effects of Salbutamol, Histamine and Acetylcholine on Calcium Mobilization, Cyclic AMP and Isometric Tension in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle

Introduction

 B_2 -agonist inhalation therapy is one of the pharmacological modalities used to prevent or reverse bronchospasm. The mechanism of B_2 -agonist relaxation in airway smooth muscle has not been clearly defined; however, the second messengers, adenosine 3', 5', cyclic monophosphate (cyclic AMP) and intracellular calcium have been closely associated with its contraction and relaxation (Tukawa *et al.*, 1987; Gunst, 1989; Rasmussen *et al.*, 1990; Bolton, 1979)

Cyclic AMP and Airway Smooth Muscle Relaxation

Pharmacological agents which cause an increase in cyclic AMP concentration have been shown to also relax airway smooth muscle *in vitro* (Bolton, 1979; Douglas and Brink 1987; Katsuki and Murad, 1976). The potential sites of action of this cyclic AMP-induced smooth muscle relaxation are: 1) phosphorylation of the myosin light chains, causing a decrease in sensitivity of calcium by myosin light chain kinase (Aksoy *et al.*, 1983; Stull *et al.*, 1988), 2) changes in intracellular calcium metabolism (calcium efflux, influx and reuptake by myoplasmic stores) causing a decrease in intracellular calcium concentration ([Ca++]_i) (Itoh *et al.*, 1982; Meisheri *et al.*, 1982; Bulbring and den Hertog 1980; Scheid *et al.*, 1979; and Van Breeman, 1977) and 3) phospholipase C and inositol phospholipid kinases which inhibit the hydrolysis of inositol phospholipids which in turn modulate the histamine-induced contractile response (Hall *et al.*, 1989). To address the second issue raised above, I studied the relationship between isometric contraction, intracellular cyclic AMP concentration, $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and extracellular calcium ($[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$) mobilization. Accordingly, I carried out simultaneous measurements of either 1) cyclic AMP, 2) $[Ca^{++}]_i$ or 3) $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ and isometric tension when bovine tracheal smooth muscle was contracted with histamine, or acetylcholine and relaxed with salbutamol.

Calcium and Airway Smooth Muscle Relaxation

Simultaneous measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension in tracheal smooth muscle strips when stimulated with pharmacological agents has advanced our understanding on how calcium is involved in the development and reduction of tension in airway smooth muscle (Tukawa *et al.*, 1987; Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, 1989; Ozaki *et al.*, 1990). Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, (1989); Tukawa *et al.*, (1987) and Ozaki *et al.*, (1990) have reported a decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in precontracted tracheal smooth muscle when relaxed with a β -agonist, whereas, the reports on the effect of a β -agonist on resting airway smooth muscle are inconsistent; either causing an increase in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ (Tukawa *et al.*, 1987) or no effect (Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, 1989). Whereas, a reduction in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ is observed in smooth muscle relaxation, there have been no experiments to clearly delineate if the decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ caused by β -agonist stimulation is associated with calcium efflux from the myoplasm in airway smooth muscle, or by other mechanisms.

To address the role of changes in calcium mobilization I used the fluorescent indicator fluo-3 in both the acetoxymethyl ester (AM) and the pentaammonium salt, to make: 1) simultaneous measurements of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension, and 2) simultaneous measurements of $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ and isometric tension. I determined previously in chapter 3 that fluo-3 AM can be used to simultaneously monitor $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension in bovine tracheal smooth muscle and that, fluo-3 can detect calcium over a wide range, from 35 nM to a saturation concentration of approximately 10 μ M, (Minta *et al.*, 1989; Kao *et al.*, 1989). Monitoring small changes in calcium surrouding the tissue ($[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$) during histamine-induced contraction and/or salbutamol-induced relaxation requires fluo-3 salt to present in the bathing solution, and that the modified Krebs-Henseleit solution contains a calcium concentration of approximately 700 nM (Stockbridge, 1987). These two factors will facilitate the detection of any significant changes of $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ during contraction and/or relaxation of the tissue strip.

In this chapter I am **reporting** on the effects of salbutamol, histamine or acetylcholine on calcium mobilization (intra and extracellularly) or on cyclic AMP concentration, simultaneously with isometric tension.

Materials and Methods

Fluo-3 acetoxymethyl ester (AM) and fluo-3 pentaammonium salt were purchased from Molecular Probes Inc. (Eugene, OR, USA); Pluronic F-127 was supplied by Molecular Probes. Histamine phosphate, MnCl₂, trichloroacetic acid and a protein analysis kit (P5656) were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO. USA). Acetylcholine chloride was purchased from Fluka Chemika (AG., Switzerland). Salbutamol sulphate was donated from Glaxo Canada Inc. (Toronto, OT). Ionomycin was purchased from Terochem Laboratories (Edmonton, AB. CANADA). Cryogenic tubes were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Nepean, ON. CANADA). A cyclic AMP assay kit (TRK.432) was purchased from (Amersham, International, UK). Two Krebs-Henseleit buffers were used in these experiments, 1) normal Krebs-Henseleit (KH) containing (in mM) 113 NaCl, 4.8 KCl, 1.2 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgSO₄, 25.0 NaHCO₃, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, and 5.5 glucose; 2) modified Krebs-Henseleit (MKH) 113 NaCl, 4.8 KCl, 0.38 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgSO₄, 25.0 NaHCO₃, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, 5.5 glucose, and 0.41 EGTA. The MKH buffer gives a total free calcium concentration of \approx 700 nM (Stockbridge, 1987).

Smooth Muscle Isolation

This method was similar to that described in chapter II with the following additions: the tracheal strips used for $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ experiments were placed in MKH solution at 4 °C, and were approximately 2 mm wide x 2 mm thick x 10 mm long (wet weight was 20 to 40 mg).

Simultaneous [Ca++], and Isometric Tension Measurement

In addition to the contractile agent (histamine) used in chapter III, the effects of salbutamol $(1 \mu M)$ (Hall *et al.*, 1989) were tested on muscle strips at L₀ and on muscle strips contracted by histamine either $(3.5 \mu M)$ or acetylcholine $(0.5 \mu M)$.

Cyclic AMP and Isometric Tension Measurement

Muscle strips were placed in cryogenic tubes (2 mls), bathed in KH solution which was oxygenated with 95 % O_2 and 5 % CO_2 and the bicarbonate buffer in the KH solution maintained the pH at 7.4. The temperature was maintained at 37 °C. One end of the muscle strip was attached firmly to the base of the tube using a metal clip, the other, to a force transducer (FT-03; Grass Instrument, Quincy, MA, USA). This set-up is similar to figure 2.2 in chapter II except that cryogenic tubes were mounted inside the tissue baths so that the tissue could be rapidly frozen. As electric field stimulation was not used to establish the active resting tension (Lo), I used a method similar to that described by Marthan *et al.*, (1987). The muscle length was increased very slightly every 5 to 10 minutes for a total of approximately 90 minutes until resting tension stabilized.

The muscle strips were then subjected to <u>one</u> of the procedures described below, following which they were immediately frozen using 1.8 mls of liquid nitrogen added directly to the cryogenic tube. The tissue was (see figure 4.1): 1) pretreated for 10 min. with salbutamol (1 μ M) (A') or isobutyl-methyl xanthine (IBMX) (a non-specific phosphodiesterase) (0.1 mM) (A) (Hall *et al.*, 1989), 2) stimulated with histamine 3.5 μ M and frozen at 2 (B) or 7 (C) minutes, or 3) stimulated with histamine $3.5 \,\mu$ M for 10 minutes and relaxed with salbutamol (1 μ M) and frozen at 10 minutes (D). It took approximately 10 seconds to empty the KII solution from the cryogenic tube and replace it with liquid nitrogen. Throughout these procedures mentioned above(A', A, B, C, D) muscle tension was monitored.



Figure # 4.1 Time Points for Cyclic AMP Measurement

For the measurement of cyclic AMP, the tissues were processed at 4 $^{\circ}$ C or lower, to inhibit changes in cyclic AMP concentration caused by cytosolic phosphodiesterases. Frozen muscle strips were weighed and minced using a scalpel blade. The minced tissue was placed in 400 µL of a 6% solution of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and homogenized at 40,000 rpm for 1 minute. (conical homogenizer VIRTIS). The homogenate was centrifuged at 1500 g for 10 minutes at 4 $^{\circ}$ C. The supernatant was collected, and the TCA extracted using 5 successive rinses with ether saturated with water (Brooker *et al.*, 1979). The precipitate was saved and the protein content measured using a method similar to that described by Lowry *et al.*, (1951). The cyclic AMP concentration for each muscle strip was then determined using the ³H assay kit and a scintillation counter (Beckman LS 7000), with appropriate quenching and background correction.

Simultaneous [Ca++] ext and Isometric Tension Measurement

Muscle strips were placed in the CAF-100 identical to the method described in chapter III. The tissue was bathed in MKH solution which was oxygenated with 95 % O_2 and 5 % CO_2 at a pH of 7.4. The temperature was maintained at 37 °C. The Lo was achieved identical to that described for cyclic AMP and isometric tension experiments described above. The MKH solution contained 700 nM free calcium and was the minimum amount of calcium that would allow for a measurable histamine-induced contraction after 2 hours bathing time. The simultaneous and continuous measurements of $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ and isometric tension were made after fluo-3 pentaammonium salt (15 μ M) (a cell impermeant) was added to the MKH solution. The data recorded consisted of continuous measurements of fluorescent intensity and isometric tension over a 15 minute

period. To show the timing sequencing of changes that occured during agonist stimulation both measurements were plotted in arbitrary units.

The experimental protocol was as follows (see figure 4.5): baseline values (fluorescent intensity and isometric tension) were recorded for 3 minutes, thereupon double distilled water (H₂O(dd)) (15 μ l) was added determining the effects of dilution artifact on fluorescent intensity and values were recorded for a further 2 minutes. At 5 minutes, 15 μ l histamine (10 μ M) (ED80) was added and measurements were carried out for 5 minutes. This higher concentration of histamine was required to produce a brisk contraction in the lower calcium buffer. At 10 minutes, 15 μ l salbutamol (1 μ M) was added and the effects were recorded for 3 minutes thereafter. To indicate if fluo-3 was saturated CaCl₂ solution (15 μ l) for a final concentration of $\simeq 5 \,\mu$ M free calcium was administered 3 minutes after the addition of salbutamol for each tissue strip.

Statistical Analysis

Baseline values for $[Ca^{++}]_i$ when the muscle was at Lo are presented as the mean \pm SEM. Cyclic AMP values are presented as picomoles per milligram of protein. Comparisons between cyclic AMP concentration of control (muscle strips at Lo) and stimulated muscle strips were using the paired t test. Significance was defined as $P \le 0.05$.

Results

Effects of Salbutamol on [Ca++]_i and Isometric Tension During Contraction (caused by histamine or ACh) or at Lo

Table 4.1 shows the results of 7 trachealis muscle strips exposed to salbutamol (1 μ M). Regardless of whether the tissue was precontracted by histamine (3.5 μ M) (n=3) or acetylcholine (0.5 μ M) (n=2) or whether it was maintained at Lo (n=2), salbutamol caused [Ca++]_i and tension (in precontracted tissue) to decline. Figure 4.2 is a typical example of a histamine (3.5 μ M)-induced response which caused a rapid increase in [Ca++]_i to a peak value followed by a moderate decline, the rate of which was similar to that seen during the baseline period. Furthermore, salbutamol (1 μ M) caused a rapid decline in the elevated [Ca++]_i, returning it to a value near baseline. Histamine caused a slow increase in isometric tension which reached a plateau. This tension was abolished after the addition of salbutamol (1 μ M).

ACh (0.5 μ M) caused a rapid rise in [Ca++]_i which was either transient or sustained, and the addition of salbutarnol (1 μ M) caused [Ca++]_i to decrease rapidly. Furthermore, the ACh caused isometric tension to increase rapidly to a plateau which was abolished with the addition of salbutarnol (1 μ M) (data not shown).

Figure 4.3 shows a decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ from baseline values when salbutamol (1 μ M) was administered to the muscle at Lo.

Tissue $[Ca^{++}]_i$ IT $[Ca^{++}]_i$ IT $[Ca^{++}]_i$ IT(nM)(mN/mm2)(nM) \triangle (mN/mm2)(nM) \triangle (mN/mm2)*1393.30.11171.2117.9318.8-5.32370.20.6785.2164.4225.9-51.93360.20.0853.6103.245.3-4.34379.70.0584.074.9330.0-2.85437.60.1683.4160.3332.5-4.26334.40.0114.0-6.97452.6-0.2195.5-16.8		Baseli	ne Ma	x. [Ca++]	i and IT	Post Salbutamol	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Tissue			• • • •			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1	393.3	0.1	1171.2	117.9	318.8	-5.3
4 379.7 0.0 584.0 74.9 330.0 -2.8 5 437.6 0.1 683.4 160.3 332.5 -4.2 6 334.4 0.0 114.0 -6.9	2	370.2	0.6	785.2	164.4	225.9	-51.9
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3	<u></u>	_00	_ 8 <u>5</u> 3. <u>6</u>	103.2	4 <u>5</u> .3_	-4.3
6 334.4 0.0 114.0 -6.9	4	379.7	0.0	584.0	74.9	330.0	-2.8
	5	437.6	0.1	683.4	160.3	332.5	4.2
7 452.6 -0.2 195.5 -16.8	6	334.4	0.0			114.0	-6.9
	7	452.6	-0.2		····	195.5	-16.8

 389.7 ± 15.9 0.1 ±0.1 (mean \pm SEM)

*negative values symbolize below baseline values.

Tissues 1 to 3 were contracted with 3.5 μM histamine and relaxed with 1.0 μM salbutamol (See figure #4.2).

Tissues 4 to 5 were contracted with 0.5 μ M acetylcholine and relaxed with 1.0 μ M salbutamol.

Tissues 6 to 7 were stimulated with 1.0 [:M salbutamol (See figure #4.3).

Table #4.1 Effects of Salbutamol on $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and Isometric Tension (IT)





At the 1 minute mark histamine (3.5 μ M) was added and at the 10 minute mark salbutamol (1 μ M) was added. [Ca++]_i is the upper tracing, isometric tension is the lower tracing. Data acquisition was at 2 samples/second.





At the 3 minute mark salbutamol (1 μ M) was added. [Ca++]_i is the upper tracing, isometric tension is the lower tracing. Data acquisition was at 2 samples/second
Effects of IBMX, Histamine, Salbutamol on Cyclic AMP Concentration

Figure 4.4 shows the effects of IBMX (0.1 mM), salbutamol (1 μ M), histamine (3.5 μ M) and histamine and salbutamol (1 μ M) on cyclic AMP concentration in bovine tracheal smooth muscle at various tensions (see figure 4.1 for time points) (n=39). The average cyclic AMP concentration in 11 trachealis muscle strips at Lo (control) was 5.32 pmol/mg protein. Pretreatment for 10 minutes with IMBX (0.1 mM) caused an increase in cyclic AMP concentration which was significantly higher than control (n=5, P \leq 0.05). Pretreatment for 10 minutes with salbutamol (1 μ M) caused an increase in cyclic AMP concentration which was significantly higher than control (n=6, P \leq 0.05). After 2 minutes exposure to histamine (3.5 μ M), there was an increase in cyclic AMP concentration which was significantly higher than control (n=8, P \leq 0.05). However, after a 10 minute pretreatment with histamine (3.5 μ M) there was no significant difference from control (n=5). Ten minutes after salbutamol (1 μ M) was added, to tissues already contracted by histamine, there was an increase in cyclic AMP concentration which was significantly higher than control (n=4, P \leq 0.05).

There was no significant difference in cyclic AMP concentration whether the control tissues were frozen with liquid nitrogen or frozen in a -80 °C fridge (n=4). Therefore, the mode of freezing did not influence our data.





Time points for cyclic AMP: A and A' were pretreated for 10 minutes, B was at 2 min. during a contraction caused by histamine, C was at 10 min. during a contraction caused by histamine, D was at 10 min. after a contraction caused by histamine and relaxed with salbutamol (see figure 4.1). \dagger indicates significance from control P ≤ 0.05 .

Effects of Histamine and Salbutamol on [Ca++]ext and Isometric Tension.

The effects of H₂O(dd) (15 µl), histamine (10µM), and salbutamol (1µM) on fluorescent intensity of the bathing medium (indicative of $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$) and isometric tension of 1 of 4 tissue strips is shown in (figure 4.5). The changes in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ caused by histamine and salbutamol are typical of those seen in the other three tissues studied. Addition of 15 µl H₂O(dd) (the same volume dose used for histamine and salbutamol) had no affect on isometric tension but caused a slight decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ (A) because of the dilution effect. Histamine (10 µM) initially caused a slight increase in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ (B) followed by a decrease in the slope (C). The isometric tension increased steadily approximately 30 seconds after the administration of 10µM histamine (D). Salbutamol (1 mm) caused an immediate increase in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ (E) which was associated with a decrease in isometric tension. Addition of 15µl CaCl₂ to achieve ≈ 5 µM in the bathing medium caused a rise in fluorescent intensity similar to the increase observed during the stimulation with 1µM salbutamol (F).



Figure #4.5. Effect of H₂O, Histamine and Salbutamol on Fluorescent Intensity and Isometric Tension in a Bovine Trachealis Muscle.

At the 3 minute mark 15 μ l H₂O (dd) was added, at 5 minutes histamine (10 μ M), at 10.4 minutes salbutamol (1 μ M) and at 13 minutes CaCl₂ solution (4.3 μ M) was added. [Ca++]ext fluorescent intensity (F.I.) is depicted by open circles, isometric tension is depicted by crosses. (----) represents the change in F.I. caused by the dilution effect. Data acquisition was at 2 samples/second.

Discussion

In this study I have demonstrated in a preliminary fashion, for the first time, that salbutamol caused a decrease in baseline $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in bovine tracheal smooth muscle at Lo. Also, salbutamol is associated with an increase in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ when added during a histamine-induced contraction. Furthermore, salbutamol caused a significant increase in cyclic AMP concentration in tissues which were at Lo or precontracted with histamine.

Takuwa *et al.*, (1987) reported that isoproterenol caused a transient increase in [Ca⁺⁺]_i in aequorin loaded resting bovine trachealis muscle strips. Felbel *et al.*, (1988) also found an isoproterenol-induced increase in [Ca⁺⁺]_i in bovine tracheal smooth muscle cells using fura-II as the [Ca⁺⁺]_i indicator. However, Gunst and Brandyopadhyay, (1989) and Ozaki *et al.*, (1990), found that isoproterenol did not increase [Ca⁺⁺]_i in resting aequorin and fura-II loaded canine trachealis muscle strips. This inconsistency in the literature combined with the salbutamolinduced decrease in [Ca⁺⁺]_i when the tissue is at Lo, which I recorded, brings some uncertainty to the hypothesis proposed by Rasmussen *et al.*, (1990), which is that an increase in [Ca⁺⁺]_i can play a dual role: it could mediate both contraction and relaxation in airway smooth muscle. Differences between my observations and those reported previously may be in part due to species variation (bovine vs. canine), temperature and/or [Ca⁺⁺]_i monitoring technique (fluorescence vs. bioluminescence). However, the decrease in [Ca⁺⁺]_i caused by the addition of salbutamol to histamine or acetylcholine contracted tracheal smooth muscle, is similar to the results of $T_{akuwa} et al.$, (1987); Felbel et al., (1988); Gunst and Brandyopadhyay, (1989); $\bigcap_{zaki} et al.$, (1990).

The increase in cyclic AMP concentration caused by salbutamol in my study was similar to that reported by Hall *et al.*, (1989) and support the hypothesis that a rise in cyclic AMP is associated with airway smooth muscle relaxation (Gold *et al.*, 1980). However, the significant increase in cyclic AMP concentration in the first two minutes following histamine stimulation is similar to the results of Katsuki and Murad, (1977); and Andersson *et al.*, (1975). Therefore, these results suggest a complex interaction between cyclic AMP and [Ca⁺⁺]i (Rasmussen *et al.*, 1990). This transient rise in cyclic AMP concentration, caused by histamine, may be the result of local histamine-induced synthesis of prostaglandin, or a histamineinduced increase in cyclic GMP which could then cause a secondary increase in cyclic AMP (Stoner *et al.*, 1974). Alternatively, histamine could cause activation of the H2 receptor which could then initiate a transient increase in cyclic AMP (Douglas, 1985).

The simultaneous measurement of extracellular calcium and isometric tension revealed two important observations: 1) histamine, during the initial rise in tension, resulted in a very slight transient increase in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$, but as the tension approached a plateau, the slope of the rate of increase in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ declined, 2) salbutamol caused an instantaneous increase in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ and a decrease in isometric tension. These results suggest that the action of histamine: 1) during the initial tension increase did not require a supply of calcium from the bathing medium and supports the findings by Kirkpatrick, (1975) Takuwa *et al.*, (1987); Kotlikoff *et al.*, (1987), and 2) when approaching the sustained component of isometric contraction requires a supply of calcium from the bathing medium. This influx of calcium may be secondary to a depolarization of the membrane (Kirkpatrick, 1975) causing activation of voltage dependant calcium channels (Rodger, 1987). The $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ increase and isometric tension decrease caused by salbutamol establishes a possible mechanism similar to that described by (Scheid *et al.*, 1979) that β -agonist-induced relaxation is caused by an increase in Na⁺⁻K⁺ pump activity, which increases the transmembrane Na⁺ gradient and enhances the calcium extrusion via the Na⁺⁻Ca⁺⁺ exchanger, or that calcium is effluxed by a direct activation of the plasmalemma calcium pump working in parallel with the Na⁺⁻Ca⁺⁺ exchanger (DiPolo and Beauge, 1990).

One other noteworthy point is that the fluorescent intensity increased at a constant rate throughout the extracellular calcium/isometric tension measurement. This could be the effect of adding a calcium buffer (fluo-3) to the bathing medium causing a steady efflux of calcium from the cells of the tissue and /or from temperature variation during installation of the dye.

In summary, my results indicate that salbutamol administered before or during a histamine-induced contraction caused an increase in cyclic AMP, a decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and an increase in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$. These findings suggest that the cyclic AMP action may be linked to calcium efflux from the myoplasm.

References

AKSOY, M., O., MRAS, S., KAMM, K., E., AND R. A. MURPHY, 1983, Ca2+, cAMP, and changes in myosin phosphorylation during contraction of smooth muscle, *Am. J. Physiol.* 245(Cell Physiol. 14): C255-C270, 1983.

ASH, A., S., F., AND H. O. SCHILD, 1966, Receptors mediating some actions of histamine, Br. J. Pharmacol., 27: 427-439.

BARNES, P., J., CUSS, F., M., AND B. M. GRANDORY, **1986**, Spasmogens and phosphotidyl breakdown in bovine trachealis smooth muscle, *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 87: 65P.

BOLTON, T., B., 1979, Mechanisms of action of transmitters and other substances on smooth muscle. *Physiol. Rev.* 59: 606-718.

BROOKER, G., HARPER, J., F., TERASAKI, W., L., AND R. D. MOYLAND, **1979**, Radioimmunoassay of cyclic AMP and cyclic GMP. *Adv. Cyclic Nucleotide Res.* 10: 1-33.

BULBRING, E., ANDBULBRING, E., AND A. DEN HERTOG, **1980**, The action of isoprenaline on the smooth muscle of the guinea pig taenia coli, *J. Physiol.* 304: 277-296.

CHAND, N., AND P. EYRE, **1975**, Classification and biological distribution of histamine receptor sub-types, *Agent. Actions.*, **5**: 277-295.

DIPOLO, R., AND L. BEAUGE, **1990**, Calcium transport in excitable cells. In *Intracellular Calcium Regulation*, Edited by F. Bronner, Wiley-Liss, Alan R. Liss, Inc. pg. 406.

DOUGLAS, J., S., AND C. BRINK, 1987, Histamine and prostanoids, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. Suppl. 136: S21-S37.

DOUGLAS, W., W., 1985, Autacoids. In *The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics*, Edited by A. G. Gilman, L. S. Goodman, T. W. Rall and F. Murad, Macmillan Publishing Company, pg 604-638.

FELBEL, J., TROCKUR, B., ECKER, T., LANDGRAF, W., AND F. HOFMANN, 1988, Regulation of cytosolic calcium by cAMP and cGMP in Freshly Isolated Smooth Muscle Cells from Bovine Trachea, J. Biol. Chem. 263: No 32 16764-16771.

GOLD, WARREN M., 1980, Role of cyclic nucleotides in airway smooth muscle. In *Physiology and Pharmacology of the Airways*, Edited by J. A. Nadel, Marcel Dekker, New York. pp.123-190. GRYNKIEWICZ, G., POENIE M., AND R. Y. TSIEN, **1985**, A new generation of Ca2+ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties, *J. Biol. Chem.* 260: 3440-3450.

GUNST, S., J., AND S. BANDYOPADHYAY, 1989, Contractile force and intracellular Ca2+ during relaxation of canine tracheal smooth muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 257(26): C355-C364.

HALL, I., P. AND S. J. HILL, **1988**, b2-adrenoceptor stimulation inhibits histaminestimulated inositol phospholipid hydrolysis in bovine tracheal smooth muscle, *Br*. *J. Pharmacol.* 95: 748P.

HALL, I., P., DONALDSON J., AND S. J. HILL, **1989**, Inhibition of histaminestimulated inositol phospholipid hydrolysis by agents which increase cyclic AMP levels in bovine tracheal smooth muscle, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 97: 603-613.

ITOH, T., IZUMI, H., AND H. KURIYAMA, **1982**, Mechanisms of relaxation induced by activation of b-adrenoceptors in smooth muscle cells of the guinea pig mesenteric artery, *J. Physiol.* (Lond.) 326: 475-493.

KAO, J., P., Y., HAROOTUNIAN, A., T., AND R. Y. TSIEN., **1989**, Photochemically Generated Cytosolic Calcium Pulses and Their Detection by Fluo-3, *J. Biol. Chem.* 264: 8171-8178.

KATSUKI, S., AND F. J. MURAD, 1976, Regulation of Adenosine Cyclic
'-Monophosphate and Guanosine Cyclic 3',5'-Monophosphate Levels and
Contractility in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle, *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 13: 330-341.

KATSUYAMA, H., SUZUKI, S., AND E. NISHIYE, **1990**, Actions of second messengers synthesized by various spasmogenic agents and their relation to mechanical responses in dog tracheal smooth muscle, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 100: 41-48.

KIRKPATRICK, C., T., 1975, Excitation and contraction in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle. J. Physiol., 244: 263-281.

LOWRY, O., H., ROSENBROUGH, FARR, N., J., AND A. L. & R. J. RANDALL, 1951, J. Biol. Chem., 192, 265-275.

MEISHERI, K., D., AND VAN BREEMAN, 1982, Effects of b-adrenergic stimulation on calcium movements in rabbit aortic smooth muscle: relationship with cyclic AMP, *J. Physiol.* 331:429-441.

MINTA, A., KAO J., P., Y., AND R. Y. TSIEN, **1989**, Fluorescent indicators for cytosolic calcium based on rhodamine and fluorescein chromophores. *J. Bio. Chem.* 264(14): 8171-8178. 1989.

OZAKI H., KWON, S.-C., TAJIMI, M., AND H. KARAKI, **1990**, Changes in cytosolic Ca2+ and contraction induced by various stimulants and relaxants in canine tracheal smooth muscle. *Pflugers Arch* **416**: 351-359.

PARK, S., AND H. RASMUSSEN, **1985**, Activation of tracheal smooth muscle contraction: synergism between calcium and activators of protein kinase C. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 82: 8835-8839.

RASMUSSEN, H., KELLEY, G., AND J. DOUGLAS, 1990, Interaction between Ca2+ and cAMP messenger system in regulation of airway smooth muscle contraction, *Am. J. Physiol.* 258(Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 2): L279-L288.

RINARD, G., A., JENSEN, A., AND A. M. PUCKETT, 1983, Hydrocortisone and isoproterenol effects on trachealis cAMP and relaxation, *J. Appl. Physiol.* : Respirat. Environ. Exercise Physiol. 55 (5):1609-1613.

RODGER, I., W., 1987, Airway smooth muscle and disease workshop, Calcium Channels, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis., Oct 136 (4 pt 2): S15-S17.

SCHEID, C., R., HONEYMAN, T., W., AND F. S. FAY, **1979**, Mechanism of β adrenergic relaxation of smooth muscle, *Nature* (Lond.), 277: 32-36. SCHEID, C., R., AND F. S. FAY, **1984**, β-Adrenergic effect on transmembrane ⁴⁵Ca fluxes in isolated smooth muscle cells, Am. J. Physiol. 246 (Cell Physiol. 15): C431-C438.

STOCKBRIDGE, N., 1987, EGTA, Comput. Biol. Med. Vol.17, No. 5, pp. 299-304.

STONER, J., MANGANIELLO, V., C., AND M. VAUGHAN, **1974**, Effects of bradykinin and indomethacin on cyclic GMP and cyclic AMP in lung slices, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 70: 3530-3833.

STULL, J., T., KAMMM, K., E., AND D. A. TAYLOR, **1988**, Calcium control of smooth muscle contractility. *Am. J. Med. Sci.* 296: 241-245.

TAKUWA, Y., TAKUWA, N., AND H. RASMUSSEN, 1987, Measurement of cytoplasmic free Ca2+ concentration in bovine tracheal smooth muscle using aequorin, *Am. J. Physiol.*, 253: C817-C827.

VAN BREEMAN, C., 1977, Calcium requirement for activation of intact aortic smooth muscle, *J. Physiol.* 272: 317-329.

140

Chapter V

Conclusion

Conclusion

Airway smooth muscle is found throughout the tracheobronchial tree and is one of the major factors that dictate the flow of air entering or leaving the respiratory zone during inspiration and expiration. Regulation of the tone in airway smooth muscle is a dynamic state between various excitatory and inhibitory mechanisms operated by second messenger systems. This thesis focused on how calcium and cyclic AMP, both second messengers, control the isometric contraction and relaxation of airway smooth muscle. In this final chapter a brief background of the topics of each study will be reviewed along with a succinct description of the results of each chapter followed by a general conclusion.

Chapter II

Inflammatory mediators leukotriene D₄ (LTD₄), prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2\alpha}), platelet-activating factor (PAF) and histamine have been linked to the pathogenesis of asthma (Abrahams and Wanner, 1988) and have been shown to cause airway smooth muscle contraction *in vivo* (Kern *et al.*, 1986; Denjean *et al.*, 1983; Malo *et al.*, 1982). In this chapter, I have shown that LTD₄, PGF_{2\alpha}, PAF and histamine all caused tracheal smooth muscle isometric contraction, but the peak tensions obtained for LTD₄, PGF_{2\alpha} and PAF were variable and the tensiontime curves difficult to interpret for reasons discussed below. The effect of LTD_4 on peak tension in bovine trachealis muscle was variable and the isometric tension-time curve showed a transient increase in tension. Also, the LTD₄-induced contraction showed no change in tension when acetylcholine (ACh) was administered after maximum tension via LTD₄, but once the tissue was rinsed with Krebs-Henseleit (KH) solution, the same dose of ACh caused a brisk and maintained tension. This suggests that LTD₄ could cause one or more of the following: 1) the contractile elements decrease their calcium sensitivity (Karaki, 1989), 2) release of vasoactive intestinal polypeptide, or release of prostaglandin E_2 , both of these compounds are found *in vivo* and have been shown to cause airway smooth muscle relaxation (Said, 1988; Madison *et al.*, 1989), and 3) some other unknown mechanism(s). These characteristics of the response to LTD₄ have not been reported in the literature and should be examined further.

The effect of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ on bovine trachealis muscle was a maintained tension unlike that of either LTD_4 or PAF, and it was not tachyphylactic which was opposite to the results obtained using guinea pig trachealis preparations (Douglas and Brink, 1987). Furthermore, the maximum tensions generated with $PGF_{2\alpha}$ did not follow a well defined dose response.

The effect of **PAF** on bovine trachealis muscle was an isometric contraction without the addition of platelets to the bathing medium, and the response was tachyphylactic. PAF has been demonstrated to cause its contractile response through the activation of platelets which must be present for any contraction to occur (Popovich *et al.*, 1988; Schellenberg *et al.*, 1983; Morley *et al.*, 1989). Therefore, it is possible that some platelets were indeed present in the preparation, either adhering to the tissue strip or within the tissue strip. It is also possible that PAF-specific receptors exist on the trachealis muscle which mediate a contractile response in the absence of platelets.

The effect of **Histamine** on bovine trachealis muscle was a sustained tension that was dependent on extracellular calcium. Also the peak tensions recorded when using the same concentration of histamine showed no signs of tachyphylaxis. It is hoped that my work will stimulate further study.

Chapter III

Simultaneous measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension in tracheal smooth muscle has advanced our understanding of how calcium is involved in the development and reduction of tension in airway smooth muscle, when exposed to certain pharmacological agents (Tukawa *et al.*, 1987; Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, 1989; Ozaki *et al.*, 1990).

Although the role of calcium in airway smooth muscle function is not completely understood, the generally excepted theory of how it regulates contraction is as follows: First, there is a rise in free intracellular calcium (activator calcium) which can come from either myoplasmic stores (sarcoplasmic retice) (an) or from the extracellular space via calcium specific channels. Second, the free activator calcium binds to calmodulin, a specific myoplasmic binding protein. Third, the calcium/calmodulin complex interacts with myosin light chain kinase causing the kinase to phosphorylate and increase actinomyosin ATPase which results in cross-bridge cycling (Cheung, 1980; De Lanerolle, 1989). The rise in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ caused by certain agonists, has been shown to be transient while a sustained tension is recorded (Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, 1989) and its pathway is not well understood.

Monitoring [Ca++]; in airway smooth muscle tissue has been done using two techniques, aequorin bioluminescence and fura-II fluorescence. Due to problems associated with these two methods (reproducibility and quantitative calcium measurements), I have attempted measuring [Ca++]i using a recently developed fluorescent indicator, fluo-3. In this chapter, I have found that fluo-3 could monitor changes in [Ca++]i and that it did not affect either the rate of tension development, or peak tension caused by exposure to histamine. Analysis of the continuous [Ca++]i and isometric tension data showed that histamine stimulation caused an initial increase in [Ca++]i followed by a slow increase in isometric tension, and both [Ca++]i and isometric tension were maintained at increased concentration and tension, respectively. It is hypothesized that histamineinduced elevated calcium levels occurred through a combination of two calcium sources. During the initial rise in tension, $[Ca^{++}]_i$ is supplied primarily from myoplasmic stores (Kotlikoff et al., 1987) and during the sustained contraction, [Ca++]_i is maintained by extracellular calcium entering from calcium voltage operated channels. The work completed in chapters II, III and IV, as well as the work by Kirkpatrick, (1975) and Rodger, (1987), support this hypothesis.

The pilot work done to obtain reproducible [Ca++]; data was very extensive, and the established procedure using fluo-3 in this thesis could be considered for future studies involving simultaneous $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension in airway smooth muscle or other tissue types.

Chapter IV

The interrelationship between $[Ca^{++}]_i$, cyclic AMP concentration, and isometric tension in airway smooth muscle when contracted or relaxed has been described as multidimensional (Rasmussen *et al.*, 1990). The results obtained while simultaneously measuring $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension in airway smooth muscle, using various pharmacological agents and $[Ca^{++}]_i$ recording techniques (bioluminescence, fluorescence), have been inconsistent. However, one consistent finding is that β -agonists decreased the $[Ca^{++}]_i$ when the muscle was in the contracted state (Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, 1989; Tukawa *et al.*, 1987; Ozaki *et al.*, 1990). How this decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ occurred in airway smooth muscle tissue has not been clearly established.

The importance of measuring extracellular calcium $([Ca^{++}]_{ext})$ during a relaxation elicited by salbutamol is that it might provide insight into whether the calcium is sequestered by myoplasmic stores or effluxed to the extracellular or interstitial space. A possible pathway for the calcium is by direct or indirect efflux from the cells. 45Calcium efflux experiments on cultured stomach smooth muscle cells showed that calcium efflux increased when the cells were treated with isoproterenol (Scheid and Fay, 1984). By adding the fluo-3 pentaammonium salt (the cell impermeant form) to the KH solution, I was able to simultaneously

measure changes in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ and isometric tension in bovine tracheal smooth muscle.

In this chapter, I have shown the effect of salbutarnol on: $[Ca^{++}]_i$, $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ cyclic AMP concentration and isometric tension. I have found that salbutarnol abolished both histamine or ACh-induced increases in both $[Ca^{++}]_i$ and isometric tension. Also, salbutarnol caused a decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ with no effect on tension when the tissue strip was at active resting tension (Lo). This effect of β -agonists on $[Ca^{++}]_i$ when the tracheal smooth muscle was at Lo has not been reported previously and is contradictory to the studies performed by Takuwa *et al.*, (1987) who have found that exposure to isoproterenol caused an increased $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in bovine tracheal smooth muscle. The results obtained Takuwa *et al.*, (1987) were not duplicated by Gunst and Bandyopadhyay, (1989) using the same technique and the same β -agonists. Furthermore, Ozaki *et al.*, (1990) found no change in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ in resting canine trachealis muscle when stimulated with isoproterenol.

The cyclic AMP concentration increased when salbutamol was administered to either airway smooth muscle at Lo or to histamine contracted smooth muscle. These results support the hypothesis that β -agonist cause relaxation by elevation of cyclic AMP only (Metzler and Kemp, 1991). However, it is unlikely that an increased cyclic AMP concentration is the sole cause for β -agonist relaxation, because of the results recorded by Andersson and Nilsson, (1978) and Katsuki and Murad, (1976), and the transient increase in cyclic AMP concentration caused by histamine as reported in this chapter. A possible mechanism by which histamine caused an increase in cyclic AMP concentration is either via the release of prostaglandins or by activating the H2 receptor (Stoner *et al.*, 1974; Douglas, 1985).

The $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ was slightly increased during the initial tension during a histamine-induced contraction, whereas the sustained tension showed a decrease in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$. Salbutamol caused an increase in $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ and a decrease in isometric tension which supports the theory that calcium efflux from the cytoplasm is a factor causing relaxation in smooth muscle (Van Breeman, 1977; Bulbring and der Hertog, 1980; Scheid and Fay, 1984).

In the process of completing this study I have added a new methodology which allows the simultaneous measurement of $[Ca^{++}]_{ext}$ and isometric tension. In so doing, I have added to the body of knowledge on the mechanism of action of β -agonist-induced relaxation of airway smooth muscle.

References

ABRAHAM, W., M., AND A. WANNER, **1988**, Inflammatory Mediators of Asthma, *Pediatric Pulmonology* 4: 237-247.

ANDERSSON, R., G., G., AND K. B. NILSSON, **1978**, Role of cyclic nucleotide metabolism and mechanical activity in smooth muscle. In *The Biochemistry of Smooth Muscle*. Edited by N. L. Stephens. Baltimore, University Park Press, pp. 263-291.

BULBRIN, E., AND A. DER HERTOG, 1980, The action of isoprenaline on the smooth muscle of the guinea pig taenia coli, J. Physiol. 304: 277-296.

CHEUNG, W., Y., 1980, Calmodulin plays a pivitol role in cellular regulation. Science 207: 19-27.

DE LANEROLLE, P., 1989, Cellular control mechanisms in airway smooth muscle. In Airway Smooth Muscle in Health and Disease, Edited by R.F. Coburn, pp.99-125.

DENJEAN, A., ARNOUX, B., MASSE, R., LOCKHART, A., AND J. BENVENISTE, 1983, Acute effects of intratracheal administration of platelet-activating factor in baboons, J. Appl. Physiol., 55: 799-804. DOUGLAS, J., S., AND C. BRINK, 1987, Histamine and Prostanoids 2. Mediators, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 136: S21-S37.

DOUGLAS, W., W., **1985**, Autacoids. In *The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics*, Edited by A. G. Gilman, L. S. Goodman, T. W. Rall and F. Murad, Macmillan Publishing Company, pg 604-638.

GUNST, S., J., AND S. BANDYOPADHYAY, **1989**, Contractile force and intracellular Ca2+ during relaxation of canine tracheal smooth muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 257(26): C355-C364.

KARAKI, H., 1989, Ca2+ localization and sensitivity in vascular smooth muscle. Trends Pharmacol. Sci.. Vol.10: 320-325.

KATSUKI, S., AND F. J. MURAD, 1976, Regulation of Adenosine Cyclic 3',5'-Monophosphate and Guanosine Cyclic 3',5'-Monophosphate Levels and Contractility in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle, *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 13: 330-341.

KIRKPATRICK, C., T., 1975, Excitation and contraction in Bovine Tracheal Smooth Muscle. J. Physiol., 244: 263-281.

KERN, R., SMITH, L., J., PATTERSON, R., KRELL, R., D., AND P. R. BERSTEIN, 1986, Characterization of the airway response to inhaled leukotriene D4 in normal subjects, *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, 133: 1127-1132. KOTLIKOFF, M., I., MURRAY, R., K., AND E. E. REYNOLDS, 1987, Histamine-induced calcium release and phorbol antagonism in cultured airway smooth muscle cells. *Am. J. Physiol.*, 253: C561-C566.

MADISON, J., M., JONES, C., A., SANKARY, R., M., AND J. K. BROWN, **1989**, Differential effects of prostaglandin E2 on contractions of airway smooth muscle, J. Appl. Physiol. 66 (3): 1397-1407.

MALO, P., E., WASSERMAN, M., A., AND R. L. GRIFFIN, **1982**, Effects of intravenous and areosol nifedapine on prostaglandin F2α and histamine-induced bronchoconstriction in anesthetized dogs. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 221: 410-415.

MORLEY, J., SMITH, D., AND I. CHAPMAN, 1989, Platelet Activating Factor and airway smooth muscle, *Pharmac. Ther.*, 40: 373-382.

POPOVICH, K., J., SHELDON, G., MACK, M., MUNOZ, N., M., DENBERG, P., BLAKE, J., WHITE, S., R., AND A. R. LEFF, **1988**, Role of platelets in contraction of canine tracheal muscle elicited by PAF in vitro, *J. Appl. Physiol.* 65(2): 914-920.

OZAKI, H., KWON, S.-C., TAJIMI, M., AND H. KARAKI, **1990**, Changes in cytosolic Ca2+ and contraction induced by various stimulants and relaxants in canine tracheal smooth muscle. *Pflugers Arch* 416: 351-359.

RASMUSSEN, H., KELLEY, G., AND J. DOUGLAS, **1990**, Interaction between Ca2+ and cAMP messenger system in regulation of airway smooth muscle contraction, *Am. J. Physiol.* 258(Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 2): L279-L288.

RODGER, I., W., 1987, Airway smooth muscle and disease workshop, Calcium Channels, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis., Oct 136 (4 pt 2): S15-S17.

SAID, S., 1988, Vasoactive intestinal peptide in the lung, Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 527: 450-464.

SCHEID, C., R., AND F. S. FAY, **1984**, β-Adrenergic effect on transmembrane ⁴⁵Ca fluxes in isolated smooth muscle cells, *Am. J. Physiol.* 246 (Cell Physiol. 15): C431-C438.

SCHELLENBERG, R., WALKER, B., AND F. SNYDER, **1983**, Platelet dependant contraction of human bronchi by platelet activating factor. J. Allergy Clin. *Immun.* 71: 145.

STONER, ANGANIELLO, V., C., AND M. VAUGHAN, 1974, Effects of bradykinin and indomethacin on cyclicGMP and cyclic AMP in lung slices, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 70: 3530-3833.

TAKUWA, Y., TAKUWA, N., AND H. RASMUSSEN, **1987**, Measurement of cytoplasmic free Ca2+ concentration in bovine tracheal smooth muscle using aequorin, *Am. J. Physiol.*, 253: C817-C827.

VAN BREEMAN, C., 1977, Calcium requirement for activation of intact aortic smooth muscle, J. Physiol. 272: 317-329.